
 

DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION 
VOTE 05 
2010/11 ANNUAL REPORT 
 
1. General Information 
 

Vision, mission and values ............................................................................................................. 1 
Organisational structure ................................................................................................................. 1 
Legislative mandate ....................................................................................................................... 2 
Entities reporting to the minister ..................................................................................................... 2 
Minister’s statement ....................................................................................................................... 2 
Accounting officer’s overview ......................................................................................................... 4 

 
2. Information on predetermined objectives 
 
2.1 Overall performance ....................................................................................................................... 8 
2.1.1 Voted funds .................................................................................................................................... 8 
2.1.2 Aim of vote ..................................................................................................................................... 8 
2.1.3 Summary of programmes ............................................................................................................... 8 
2.1.4 Key strategic objectives achievements ........................................................................................... 9 
2.1.5 Overview of the service delivery environment for 2010/11 ........................................................... 15 
2.1.6 Overview of the organisational environment for 2010/11 ............................................................. 18 
2.1.7 Key policies developments and legislative changes ..................................................................... 20 
2.1.8 Departmental revenue .................................................................................................................. 21 
2.1.9 Departmental expenditure ............................................................................................................ 21 
2.1.10 Transfer payments ....................................................................................................................... 22 
2.1.11 Conditional grants and earmarked funds ...................................................................................... 22 
2.1.12 Capital investment, maintenance and asset management plan ................................................... 25 
2.2 Programme performance.............................................................................................................. 29 

Programme 1: Administration ....................................................................................................... 32 
Programme 2: Public school education ........................................................................................ 39 
Programme 3: Independent school subsidies............................................................................... 58 
Programme 4: Public special school education ............................................................................ 62 
Programme 5: Further education and training .............................................................................. 69 
Programme 6: Adult education and training ................................................................................. 76 
Programme 7: Early childhood development ................................................................................ 83 
Programme 8: Auxiliary and associated services ......................................................................... 89 

 



 

3. Annual financial statements ...................................................................................................... 94 
 

Report by the Audit Committee .................................................................................................... 95 
Report of the Accounting Officer ................................................................................................ 100 
Report of the Auditor-General .................................................................................................... 107 
Appropriation statement ............................................................................................................. 112 
Notes to the appropriation statement ......................................................................................... 122 
Statement of financial performance ............................................................................................ 124 
Statement of financial position .................................................................................................... 125 
Statement of changes in net assets ........................................................................................... 126 
Cash flow statement ................................................................................................................... 127 
Statement of accounting policies ................................................................................................ 128 
Notes to the annual financial statements .................................................................................... 135 
Disclosure notes to the annual financial statements ................................................................... 145 
Annexures (unaudited supplementary schedules)...................................................................... 158 

 
4. Human resource management ................................................................................................ 166 

 
5. Other information 
 

Acronyms ................................................................................................................................... 197 
List of contact details .................................................................................................................. 198 
National programme performance measures - definitions .......................................................... 199 

 



Annual Report 2010/11 1 

Part 1 – General Information 

 
 
Vision 
 
Creating opportunity for all through improved education outcomes. 
 
This is given expression through the three over-arching goals:  
1. Improved literacy and numeracy in primary schools 
2. Improved number and quality of passes in the National Senior Certificate 
3. Reduction in number of under-performing schools 
 
Mission 
 
To provide quality education to all learners in the province through the following: 
 
 Overall planning for, and management of, the education system 
 Education in public ordinary schools 
 Support to independent schools 
 Education in public special schools 
 Further Education and Training (FET) at public FET colleges 
 Adult Education and Training (AET) in community learning centres 
 Early Childhood Development (ECD) in Grade R 
 Training opportunities for teachers and non-teachers 
 Support for the whole child by extending HIV/AIDS awareness; providing food for identified poor and hungry 

learners so that they can learn effectively; and promoting a safe school environment 
 Support to teachers through provision of basic conditions of service, incentives and employee wellness 

programmes 
 
Values 
 
 The prime importance of the learner 
 The values of the South African Constitution and the Bill of Rights 
 Excellence through the supply of, and support for, an equipped, positive and flourishing teaching force that is 

professional and dedicated 
 Accountability and transparency 
 Integrity and excellence in administrative and support functions 
 Responsive to school needs 
 Acknowledgement and affirmation of teacher excellence and support to achieve this objective 

 
Organisational Structure 

The Western Cape Education Department is headed by the Superintendent General. There are 4 branches, each 
headed by a Deputy Director General. The branches are: Education Planning; Curriculum and Assessment 
Management; Institution Development and Co-ordination and Corporate Services. 
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Legislative Mandate 
 
Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 (Act 108 of 1996) 
The Constitution of the Western Cape Province, 1998 (Act 1 of 1998) 
Western Cape Provincial School Education Act, 1997 (Act 12 of 1997) 
The South African Schools Act (SASA), 1996 (Act 84 of 1996)  
The National Education Policy Act (NEPA), 1996 (Act 27 of 1996) 
Further Education and Training Colleges Act, 1998 (Act 16 of 2006) 
The General and Further Education and Training Quality Assurance Act, 2001 (Act 58 of 2001) 
Employment of Educators Act, 1998 (Act 76 of 1998) 
Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act 1 of 1999) 
Municipal Finance Management Act, 2003 (Act 56 of 2003) 
The Annual Division of Revenue Acts 
Public Service Act, 1994 (Proclamation 103 of 1994) 
South African Qualifications Authority Act, 1995 (Act 58 of 1995) 
The South African Council for Educators Act (31 of 2000) 
Adult Basic Education and Training Act, 2000 (Act 52 of 2000) 
 
Entities reporting to the Minister 
 
None 

 
Minister’s Statement 
 
The 2010/2011 financial year, was an important year for this government, as it was the first budget that was fully 
aligned to our government’s strategic priorities as outlined in our annual performance plan.  
 
This plan focuses on 10 key priority areas which aim to dramatically improve the quality of education offered in 
this province, and ultimately, improve learner outcomes.  
 
They include improving literacy, numeracy and National Senior Certificate (NSC) outcomes, increasing 
accountability within the system, expanding the provision of textbooks, building and upgrading schools, 
enhancing teacher training and development, and improving the responsiveness and efficiency of the WCED. 
 
In the financial year, the Western Cape Government can confidently say that we have made significant progress 
in laying the necessary foundation to achieve these objectives.  
 
For example, in literacy and numeracy, the Western Cape continued to lead the rest of the country in the use of 
extensive testing for learners. Last year, we expanded our testing programme by testing both Grade 3 and 6 
learners in the same year, instead of alternate years, and introduced Grade 9 learners to the programme for the 
first time. The results were encouraging with an improvement in learner outcomes in both literacy and numeracy.  
 
At the top end of the system, the WCED focused the majority of its resources in assisting the Grade 12 learners 
and underperforming schools. Interventions in underperforming schools included intensive management support 
from our district offices, subject specific support for schools with historically low pass rates, and the delivery of 
additional textbooks in critical subject areas. These interventions proved successful, with the Class of 2010 
achieving an improved NSC pass rate, as well as increasing the number of passes and a decrease in the number 
of underperforming schools.  
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In terms of accountability, I and the Head of the Department, signed performance contracts early last year which 
directly link to improving learner outcomes. We also passed the Western Cape Provincial School Education 
Amendment Bill, which will enable the Provincial Minister to develop regulations with regard to performance 
agreements between the Head of Department, principals and deputy principals, directly linking performance 
assessment to the quality of learner outcomes at all schools. 
 
Improving the department’s business processes and systems in order to ensure rapid response and support to 
schools was a major focus in 2010/11.  
 
We are proud of how we have overhauled the vacancy process, by publishing seven vacancy lists in 2010, 
as opposed to two lists, as done in previous years. By improving the turnaround times in the appointment 
process, we are ensuring greater stability of schools. This is especially true in the case of principals, where we 
often achieved a situation where the new appointee is in place before the incumbent leaves his or her position.  
 
Quality education depends on quality teaching. Therefore, we have streamlined our teacher training and 
development programmes, so that they are more focused, with compulsory training for teachers at under-
performing schools and far greater choice for teachers at high performing schools. 
 
This government is firmly of the belief that textbooks are an essential educational resource, and in 2010/11 the 
WCED went beyond the national norm for textbook allocation by allocating R123 million for the purchase of 
textbooks throughout the system. An additional 15 000 textbooks were delivered to Grade 12s in a top-up 
programme, reading books were distributed to selected schools for Grades 1-6 and maths textbooks were 
delivered to all our primary schools for all Grades 2-7. We believe that this will play an essential role in improving 
the numeracy skills of learners at primary schools.  
 
During the course of the last financial year, the WCED audited and prioritized our infrastructure needs, and 
released an infrastructure plan that will see 25 new schools being built over the current MTEF, the replacement of 
20 schools built with inappropriate materials, the building of additional classrooms and the installation of mobile 
classrooms where there is severe overcrowding.  
 
We successfully installed over 171 mobile units, and 112 classrooms were either built or began construction. 
In 2010/11, ten new schools and four replacement schools were in various stages of construction in the province, 
with a further thirty schools in various planning stages.  
 
These are just some of the achievements we made in 2010/11. It was a significant year, in the fact that it laid the 
foundations for the implementation of our strategic plan.  
 
We do realize though, that we still have some way to go in achieving all the objectives set out in our strategic 
plan, but, we can be pleased with the progress we have made in 2010/11.  
 
In 2011, we will continue to build on these foundations, specifically targeting the early phases of learning, 
increasing textbook provision, making headway in our infrastructure plan, as well as ensuring that our Department 
is prepared and committed to give the necessary support to schools in need. 
 
We will always ensure that the needs of learners are put first, and will do everything we can to ensure that 
teachers are treated as the valued professionals that they are.  
 
Donald Grant 
Western Cape Education Minister 
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Accounting officer’s overview 
 
Growth in enrolment figures 
 
The year was characterised by growth in learner numbers across a range of key areas. 
 

Sector 2009 2010 Difference 
Grade R learners at Public Ordinary Schools 46 100 50 726 4 626 
Learners at Public Ordinary Schools 913 965 919 936 5 971 
Learners at Special Needs’ Schools 17 966 18 292 326 
Full time candidates for National Senior Certificate 44 931 45 783 852 
Adults enrolled at Community Learning Centres 38 053 40 120 2 067 
AET candidates for Level 4 qualifications 1 901 2 066 165 
Students at FET Colleges 42 291 45 056 2 765 

 
Improved quality 
 
In addition to the expansion in enrolment there is evidence of improvement in the quality of education, as 
measured by external tests and examinations. 
 
Grades 3, 6 and 9 Language and Mathematics 

Since 2002 there has been provincial testing of Grades 3 and 6 learners in alternate years in order to diagnose 
difficulties and track progress. In 2010 the WCED tested, for the first time, all Grade 3, 6 and 9 learners to 
establish the state of language and mathematics learning in each school in the province. This was the first time 
that Grade 9 learners were tested. The total number of learners tested in 2010 was 227 899. This is three times 
the number of learners tested in each of the last eight years. On average more than 100 schools were tested 
each day using more than 200 test administrators. The Grade 9 test was a pilot exercise to establish a baseline. 
The testing programme was expanded as a consequence of the centrality of testing to the Literacy and Numeracy 
Strategy. 

Results of the testing of Grades 3 and 6 learners showed improvement as follows:  

 

GRADE 3 GRADE 6 
Numeracy Pass % Average % Mathematics Pass % Average % 

2008 35,0% 39,5% 2009 17,4% 31,9% 
2010 48,3% 48,0% 2010 24,4% 39,2% 
  + (13,3%) + (8,5%)   + (7,0%) + (7,3%) 

Literacy Pass % Average % Language Pass % Average % 
2008 53,5% 50,5% 2009 48,6% 48,2% 
2010 54,9% 50,7% 2010 52,3% 50,8% 
  + (1,4%) + (0,2%)   + (3,7%) + (2,6%) 
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National Senior Certificate 
 
2010 was the third year of the new National Senior Certificate. It was a year in which the school terms were 
adjusted to accommodate the Soccer World Cup and in which tuition time and the examinations schedule were 
impacted by industrial action. Notwithstanding these pressures, there was evidence of improvement in the areas 
identified for growth as follows: 
 

National Senior Certificate 2010  
 2009 2010 Increase 
Full time candidates for NSC 44 931 45 783 852 
Number of passes 34 017 35 139 1 122 
Pass Rate 75.7% 76.8% 1.1% 
Eligible for access to Bachelor Degree study 14 324 14 414 90 
Eligible for diploma studies 12 677 13 755 1 078 

 
National Certificate (Vocational) 
 
This new three year qualification was introduced in FET Colleges in 2007. 2009 was the first year for exit level 
testing and 690 students passed. In 2010, 1 370 NC (V) (FET College) Level 4 students passed, almost doubling 
the 2009 total. The sector looks forward to ongoing growth. 

 
Performance against targets  
 
The growth in numbers and quality cited above reflects the progress made in the WCED against its three 
expressed goals: improved performance in literacy and numeracy, improved National Senior Certificate results 
and a reduction in the number of underperforming high schools 
 
In summary:  
 
 In 2010, the Grade 12 pass rate increased to 76.8%, thereby reversing the 5 year decline from 2004 – 2009;  
 There was a reduction in the number of under-performing high schools (schools with less than 60% Grade 12 

pass rate), from 85 in 2009 to 78 in 2010. WCED thereby turned the corner after a period of three 
consecutive years of an increase in the number of underperforming schools.  

 Results in literacy and numeracy, as measured by Grade 3 and 6 tests, show progress. The overall provincial 
performance is as follows: 

 
  Grade 3  

Numeracy 
Grade 3  
Literacy 

Grade 6 
Mathematics 

Grade 6  
Languages 

No of learners 74 397 74 430 77 656 77 707 
Number passed 35 934 40 862 18 948 40 641 
Target 40% 55% 15% 45% 
Pass Rates 48.3% 54.9% 24.4% 52.3% 
Mean scores 48% 50.7% 39.2% 50.8% 
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Scores on these tests give schools a picture of their strengths and weaknesses. The growing body of evidence 
will help the WCED strengthen its support and help schools to build the foundations needed to achieve higher 
levels of literacy and numeracy.  
 
The steady improvement in academic performance is a result of clearly defined strategies and programmes in 
schools. The Literacy and Numeracy Strategy focuses on the following four main interventions: diagnostic tests 
and analysis, teacher training and support, the provision of learning and teaching materials and community 
involvement. 
 
The Literacy and Numeracy Programme in 2010 provided 250 primary schools with intensive training and site-
based support for teachers from Grades 1-6. Structured reading schemes were provided to 508 primary schools. 
This provision was accompanied by classroom support. Mathematics textbooks were delivered in 2010 for all 
learners in grades 2-7, for use in 2011. Learners in grades 1 – 3 will receive textbooks for all subjects in 2012 and 
those in Grades 4 – 6 will similarly be provided with books for all subjects in 2013. Workbooks for Grades 1-6 
were supplied by the Department of Basic Education, with delivery support from the WCED.  
 
The High School Improvement Programme aims to increase the number of learners passing the National Senior 
Certificate and reduce the number of under-performing schools. The High School programme started in January 
and consisted of a differentiated approach to all high schools in the province. There was low intensity support for 
those schools where over 90% of learners had passed in 2009; medium intensity support and a subject-specific 
focus for the schools which had obtained a 60% – 89% pass rate and a high intensity, and whole school, focus for 
those where fewer than 60% of the learners had passed.  
 
In January 2010 and 2011, the WCED, together with the schools concerned, analysed the results for each school, 
per subject and per question paper. School-specific plans, with targets, were set, based on these analyses. 
Targets per school, and district, were set for pass numbers and numbers gaining admission to B degrees. 
Mentors were provided for learners at risk. A tutoring programme, using skilled teachers, from inside and outside 
the WCED, started in March and extended through to November. Telematics lessons were beamed to 
120 schools. Intensive support was provided by Curriculum Advisers to those schools that achieved below the 
provincial average for high enrolment subjects. There were September examinations at all schools with support 
from district staff. A study tips booklet and an examination question pack were supplied to each Grade 12 learner. 
 
Redress support 
 
There has been an expansion of support services in the 2010/11 financial year. 568 Primary and 108 Secondary 
schools in National Quintiles 1-3 were beneficiaries of additional provision as follows: 
 

 2009 2010 Difference 
Learners benefiting from nutrition programme 334 287 415 829 81 542 
Learners benefiting from no-fee option 349 373 365 112 15 739 

 
50 new schools were provided with safety support installations and the learner transport scheme added a further 
1  033 learners, increasing provision from 47 753 learners transported daily in 2009 to 48 786 in 2010/11. 
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Data quality improvement 
 
The WCED has further strengthened the quality of its data management in 2010/11. Better tracking in the ECD 
sector and a greater response from Independent schools to the Annual School survey are the most striking 
examples, but there are also evident improvements in the FET College data tracking as well as in the case of 
learners with special needs. More accurate data has thrown into relief that some of the historical data was 
inaccurate. Better and more reliable information sets will influence future target-setting and decisions about 
support. 
 
Performance inside a broader context 
 
The Department of Basic Education has identified a number of indicators as part of “Action Plan 2014”. 
A significant number of these appeared in the WCED Five Year Plan and progress against academic 
performance targets is tracked in this Annual Report. The Department of Basic Education will be reporting on the 
full set of indicators once all the specifications are in place. Scores on the Annual National Assessments (ANA), 
set by the Department of Basic Education, will form part of this report. 
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Part 2 – Information on pre-determined objectives 

 
2.1. Overall Performance 
 
2.1.1. Voted Funds 
 

Main Appropriation Adjusted 
Appropriation Actual Amount Spent Under-expenditure

R11,845,691,000 R11,998,212,000 R11,955,743,000 R42,469,000 

Responsible Minister Provincial Minister of Education 

Administering Department Department of Education 

Accounting Officer Head of Department, Western Cape Education Department (WCED) 
(Superintendent-General of Education)  

 
2.1.2. Aim of the Vote 
 
The Western Cape government aims to improve the life chances of its children through the provision of quality 
education. To this end all children will remain in school for as long as possible and achieve optimal results. 
 
In order to achieve this goal the WCED will provide the following main services: 
 Overall planning for, and management of, the education system 
 Education in public ordinary schools 
 Support to independent schools 
 Education in public special schools 
 Further Education and Training (FET) at public FET colleges 
 Adult Education and Training (AET) in community learning centres 
 Early Childhood Development (ECD) in Grade R 
 Training opportunities for teachers and non-teachers 
 Support for the whole child by extending HIV/AIDS awareness; providing food for identified poor and hungry 

learners so that they can learn effectively; and promoting a safe school environment 
 Support to teachers through provision of basic conditions of service, incentives and employee wellness 

programmes 
 
2.1.3. Summary of programmes 
 
The activities of all provincial education departments in South Africa are organised in eight programmes as 
follows: 
 

Programme Sub-programme 

1. Administration 1.1. Office of the MEC
1.2. Corporate services 
1.3. Education management 
1.4. Human resource development 
1.5. Education management information system (EMIS) 
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Programme Sub-programme 

2. Public Ordinary School Education 2.1. Public primary schools 
2.2. Public secondary schools 
2.3. Professional services 
2.4. Human resource development 
2.5. National school nutrition programme 

3. Independent School Subsidies 3.1. Primary phase 
3.2. Secondary phase 

4. Public Special School Education 4.1. Schools 
4.2. Professional services 
4.3. Human resource development 

5. Further Education and Training 5.1. Public institutions 
5.2. Professional services 
5.3. Human resource development 
5.4. Conditional grant 

6. Adult Basic Education and Training 6.1. Subsidies to private centres 
6.2. Professional services 
6.3. Human resource development 

7. Early Childhood Development 7.1. Grade R in public schools 
7.2. Grade R in community centres  
7.3. Professional services 
7.4. Human resource development 

8. Auxiliary and Associated Services* 
 
 
* Here there is slight variability between provinces 

8.1. Payments to SETA 
8.2. Conditional grant projects - HIV/AIDS 
8.3. External examinations 
8.4. Teacher training 
8.5. iKapa Elihlumayo 

 
2.1.4. Key strategic objective achievements 
 
The main achievements in growth in learner numbers and improvement in academic performance have been 
documented under the “Accounting Officer’s Overview” above.   
 
Accountability 
 
All officials are held accountable through job descriptions and performance agreements. Head Office officials are 
held responsible for timeous and expert support to districts and schools and districts are held accountable for 
support to schools and the performance of learners. Schools were set targets for grades 3, 6 and 12 learner 
performance. District officials monitored the progress made by schools in creating the necessary conditions for 
achieving these targets. Teacher and learner attendance and optimal use of the school day were key focus areas.  

 
Accountability at the school level will be strengthened from 2011 through the Western Cape Provincial School 
Education Amendment Act No 7 of 2010, which came into effect in January 2011. 
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Accountability is extended through the oversight roles played by Provincial and National Treasury in terms of the 
mandatory elements of the planning and reporting cycles and which cover both financial and non-financial 
matters. Reporting intervals range from monthly (e.g. financial) to quarterly to annual. All sections within the 
WCED have counterpart sections at the Department of Basic Education or Department of Higher Education and 
Training through which streams of reporting, performance analyses and projections are maintained. The 
Department of the Premier exercises an oversight function on key WCED projects which are tracked through the 
Provincial Dashboard. 
 
Substantive accountability resides in the formal relationship between the WCED and UMALUSI, the national 
quality assurance body for learning outcomes: this relationship is predicated on internal moderation of 
assessment processes and the provision of an acceptable examination process.  

 
Faster response times and support 
 
The Head Office of the WCED has been restructured in order to streamline delivery and address criticisms of 
uneven service delivery. The WCED continues to investigate the optimum structure and business processes to 
deliver services to schools. 

 
Until 2009 there were two teacher vacancy lists per annum. For 2010, five vacancy lists were planned. Principals’ 
posts were advertised in each gazette. Improved business processes led to a ten day turnaround time for the 
appointment of principals and a decision to bring out two further lists, one in September and one in October 2010. 
This development reduced the periods in which teachers were in acting positions and the use of temporary staff 
and contributed to school stability. 

 
WCED has halved the numbers of days taken for sick leave by tackling the Policy and Procedure on Incapacity 
Leave and For Ill-Health Retirement (PILIR) by assisting applicants to complete forms correctly, fast-tracking 
applications, finalising applications for ill-health retirement within 7 days of receipt of authorisation from Health 
Risk Management, communicating with applicants, advising unsuccessful applicants to return to school or face 
penalties and meeting regularly with Labour Unions to deal with grievances arising out of the process. 
 
A plan has been developed for excess staff to be placed and for the deployment of Funza Lushaka bursary 
holders as permanent or substitute teachers. 

 
CEMIS is the online vehicle through which greater efficiency in learner registration and tracking are managed. 
It directly supports examination and assessment administration and registration processes and provides data for 
staff establishment calculations and for the conduct of online surveys in ordinary and special schools. CEMIS 
supplies learner data for planning and management purposes. The introduction of tracking through web-enabled 
i-SAMS is the start of access to more school data. Currently it is being piloted within the province.  
 
The February online SNAP survey administration and the March Annual School Survey (ASS) were conducted on 
schedule and provisional ASS learner numbers were available by the end of March 2011.  The annual school 
survey in schools for learners with Special Needs was conducted, and the data made available, in 
September 2010. The SNAP survey for schools for learners with special needs for 2011 was conducted on 
1 March 2011 and the learner numbers available by April 2011. 
 
The District Management Information System (DMIS) became fully operational across all 8 district offices in 
April 2010. District officials use the system to plan, capture and view reports for all school interventions. In the 
table below, the y-axis reflects the number of reports logged onto the system in the month concerned.  
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Teacher Support and Development 
 
The WCED continued with its expressed intention to give active support to teachers in areas identified by the 
teachers themselves. This took the form of reducing the pressure on them both administratively and in terms of 
attendance at workshops and meetings.   
 
With this in mind, Planning Calendars, that listed key dates, such as those for the start and finish of examinations, 
and other administrative deadlines, were sent to schools in 2009 and 2010, before the start of each of the 
academic years, to help schools with advance planning.  
 
In addition, the WCED made a commitment to inform schools at least a month in advance of any meetings and 
District Directors held special meetings with teachers to discuss the plans for 2011 and to thank them for their 
commitment. The programme of differentiated support for schools meant that more appropriate support was 
rendered at school level than through centralised workshops.  
 
Administrative record-keeping has been greatly reduced, especially in relation to learner assessment. There were 
provincial awards for top teachers, following on a substantial selection process. These awards give recognition for 
achievement and innovation.  
 
Continuing professional teacher development in the WCED is a key focus. In 2010 it included the provision of 
bursaries and a range of courses, seminars and conferences at the Cape Teaching and Leadership Institute 
(CTLI).  

 
Pre-service bursaries were awarded to aspiring teachers, focusing on the scarce subject areas of Mathematics, 
Science, Technology and the Foundation Phase. An amount of R5m was made available for this year and 
126 students received bursaries. 14 completed their studies in 2010 and 112 continue in 2011. 15 new bursaries 
were awarded in 2011. In-service teachers received 919 new bursaries to improve their qualifications through 
ACE programmes in various fields.  They will complete their studies in 2011.  
 
In-service training and development was also offered through the CTLI. 29 training courses were delivered for 
teachers in the Foundation Phase, Intermediate and Senior Phases: 811 teachers attended these two to three 
week long courses in this financial year. 337 Principals and school management team members received training 
via the 10 management courses that were presented in this period. Conferences and seminars in Mathematics 
and Reading and for Principals reached 2 230 teachers and principals.    
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School Management and Leadership 
 
The focus in this year was on providing enhanced stability in schools and on the development and support of 
principals who were inexperienced, or in need of extra mentoring, or keen to undertake further professional 
development and/or further their studies.  
 
In order to maximise management stability in schools, the process of finalising of the appointments of school 
principals, with a minimum of delay, received priority attention. The increase in the number of vacancy lists 
helped to ensure that schools could make appointments in good time, thereby ensuring a smooth leadership 
transition and minimal disruptions to schooling. 
 
Altogether 147 principals were appointed in 2010. All districts held induction sessions for their appointees. Every 
newly-appointed principal was placed with a mentor with effect from January 2011. 45 other principals were 
placed on formal mentoring programmes and the WCED completed a small study on the mentorship programme 
in order to strengthen the training programme.  
 
152 school managers enrolled for the Advanced Certificate in Education: School Leadership.  

 
The CTLI provided 337 school managers with training on topics that included the principal as manager of the 
curriculum; the roles and responsibilities of deputy principals; the roles and responsibilities of heads of 
department, of aspiring principals and school leaders; the induction of principals and deputy principals; school 
management team training and women in, and into, management.  
 
Quality Texts and Materials 
 
An essential ingredient in providing teaching and learning is the provision of adequate texts and other learning 
materials. The ongoing supply and replenishment of textbooks and reading books is given particular attention. 
This is supported by an initiative to ensure that learners return their books at the end of the academic year so that 
the books can be re-used in the following year. 
 
The department has spent R120-million on school libraries in Quintile 1, 2 and 3 schools over the past three 
years and put monitoring and other mechanisms in place to ensure that these resources are used to their full 
potential. In addition, in 2010/11, every public ordinary secondary school was provided with a set of HIV/AIDS 
titles, to the value of R2.1 million, for their school libraries. The provision of library material to schools in this way 
also supports literacy development.  
 
In 2010/11 the WCED invested R123 million on reading books and textbooks. Home Language reading schemes 
were supplied to 508 schools and English First Additional Language reading schemes were provided to the 
158 primary schools where the language of learning and teaching is isiXhosa. Mathematics books were supplied 
to all learners in Grades 2-7. In addition, all learners studying Life Sciences, as a subject in Grade 12, were 
supplied with a Life Sciences textbook.  
 
To ensure that learning is further resourced, 196 new computer facilities were provided, exceeding the target of 
160 for the year. At the same time, 83 older facilities were upgraded. 117 donated interactive whiteboards were 
installed. All these installations are equipped with a suite of suitable software and the teachers trained in the use 
of technology.  
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These installations bring the WCED close to its scheduled completion of the Khanya project, which was an 
ambitious project to supply all schools with at least one computer laboratory by the end of the 2011/12 financial 
year. In 2011/12 the final 156 schools will be provided with a computer facility. 
 
The WCED website provides links to learning support materials and to subject specific support websites. The 
website allows the wider education community to engage with the WCED. 
 
Infrastructure 
 
Enrolment in public ordinary schools (Grades 1–12) has grown by 17 894 since 2006; in public special schools it 
grew by 1 829 in the same period, and in Grade R in public schools by 20 681. Such growth necessitates an 
ongoing infrastructure expansion programme. Between 2009 and 2010 alone the enrolment grew as follows: 
 

Sector Increase since 2009 
Grade R learners at Public Ordinary Schools 4 626 
Learners at Public Ordinary Schools 5 971 
Learners at Special Needs’ Schools 326 

 
The infrastructure plan for the Medium Term Expenditure Framework (MTEF) from 2010 – 2013 examined the 
infrastructure provision and identified the following areas for development:  
 
 Use of under-utilised classrooms in existing schools 
 Building new classrooms at existing schools to alleviate over-crowding 
 Building new schools, including special schools, to alleviate accommodation pressures 
 Replacing existing schools or classrooms that were built of inappropriate materials  
 Maintenance and repair 
 Provision of Grade R classrooms 
 Optimisation of the use of hostels 
 Re-examination of the leasing of school buildings  

 
In addition, the provision and utilisation of mobile classrooms has remained essential to provide accommodation 
for urgent and unscheduled needs.  
 
The plan for the MTEF thus proposed:  
 

 New Replacement Total 
Number of schools 26 23 49 
Number of classrooms 768 583 1 351 

 
The infrastructure that was scheduled for delivery in 2010/11 is set out below, alongside the actual delivery 
figures.  
 

Category Targeted  Actual number of schools 
New Schools 5 5 (3 mobile) 
Replacement schools 3 1 
Grade R classrooms 64 (from 2009) + 50 (2010) 94  
Relief Classrooms No targets set but the increased budget 

allowed additional priority projects 
106 (+14 by May 2011) 

Expansion Classrooms 23 
Mobile classrooms 181 

 
In addition, 3 school halls/forums were completed and 32 toilets (Primary schools) and 81 toilets (High schools) 
were built. 
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Maintenance 
 
The WCED Head Office is responsible for the management of both scheduled maintenance and emergency 
maintenance. The process of identifying priorities has been streamlined and each district submitted a prioritised 
list of schools. On the basis of this, lists for scheduled maintenance up to 2012/13 have been compiled and the 
clustering of maintenance projects (for tendering purposes) is being investigated. 487 projects in total were 
completed during the financial year from the R8,9m allocated for emergency maintenance and R8m of scheduled 
maintenance funding. 

 
Poverty and Redress 
 
The funds used to cover educational expenses, the Norms and Standards allocations to schools, are weighted so 
that schools in poorer communities are allocated more funds.  

 

National Quintile Number of schools Rand amount per learner 

NQ 1    323 855 
NQ 2    163 784 
NQ 3    189 784 
NQ 4    321 431 
NQ 5    456 202 
Total 1 452 539 (average) 
 

All discretionary funding streams, such as the no-fee school programme and the allocation of additional teachers 
to schools, are directed to redress historical disadvantage and to alleviate the impact of poverty. The No-fee 
school policy is applicable to national quintiles 1, 2 and 3 and benefited 365 112 learners. 
 

Fee status  Total number of schools 
No-fee  675 
School fee charging  777 
Grand Total  1 452 

 
More officials have been assigned to those areas where there is a concentration of needy schools. Focus schools 
of various kinds provide study opportunities to learners who could not access these subjects in the past. Funded 
programmes are run in those schools which are classified the poorest in terms of the national, poverty-linked, 
quintiles (Quintiles 1-3). These are the Quality Improvement, Development, Support and Upliftment Programme 
(QIDS-UP) and the School Nutrition Programme.  
 
In 2010, 568 Primary Schools and 108 Secondary Schools benefited from the QIDS-UP programme for schools in 
quintiles 1-3. 60% of the resource allocation goes to primary schools and 40% to high schools. The broad 
categories for funded improvements are: improved physical environment, improved curriculum resources and 
teacher development.  
 
The interventions included: the refurbishment of 33 school hostels; library training; the Telematics Intervention for 
Grade 12 learners at 120 schools; the supply of Mathematics kits for Intermediate Phase learners at all primary 
schools in quintiles 1-3 together with the training of teachers in the use of this equipment; the supply of Physical 
Education equipment for use in the Foundation and Intermediate Phases.   
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The National School Nutrition Programme provides 415 829 learners with nutritious meals on a daily basis at 
1 000 targeted Primary, Special and Secondary schools. All quintile 3 secondary school learners were added to 
the programme in the first quarter of 2011, thereby expanding the programme to include all schools in  
quintiles 1 - 3. Workshops were conducted for volunteer food handlers, on food and gas safety and hygiene. 
Teachers, parents and learners were offered courses on food production. 23 additional vegetable food gardens 
were established at targeted schools.  
 
The learner transport scheme currently provides bus transport to and from school to 48 786 learners, 
predominantly in rural areas. 
 
491 additional teachers received HIV/AIDS Life skills training. 202 Grade 10-12 Life Orientation teachers received 
training in a programme called “Today’s Choices”. To infuse HIV/AIDS awareness across all subjects, 
63 curriculum advisors were oriented in this approach. Peer education programmes continued in schools in 2010. 
Grade R-7 and Grade 8-9 material was distributed to schools. 616 persons received training in “Schools as 
Nodes of Care and Support”.  
 
The Safe Schools programme has 6 focus areas: to enhance crime control infrastructure; to enhance school 
safety management systems; to build a cohesive school-community culture; to limit substance abuse; to ensure 
appropriate law enforcement and to integrate school safety within broader community-based crime prevention 
initiatives. Fifty new schools received core security infrastructure (motorized gates; pedestrian monitoring gates; 
alarm systems linked to armed response; barbed wire and mesh wire; burglar bars) and benefited from the 
training of peer mediators. Fences at high risk schools were repaired; CCTV cameras were installed at selected 
schools and holiday security was provided where called for. Occupational Health and Safety and Disaster 
Management training was offered, as well as training in drug testing policy. Approved drug testing devices were 
supplied in high-risk cases, combined with search and seizure exercises and the supply of hand held metal 
detectors at 50 selected extra schools. R3.26 million was dedicated as a contingency budget to respond to urgent 
security needs throughout the financial year.  There are district crime prevention plans and partnerships with 
other government departments and NGOs. 
 
2.1.5. Overview of the service delivery environment for 2010/11 
 
A provincial Strategic Statement for Education 2010 to 2019 was published in November 2009. The strategy 
states that “The Western Cape Government will improve the life chances of all its children through the provision 
of quality education. To this end all children will remain in school for as long as possible and achieve optimal 
results. In particular, the focus in the period 2010 to 2019 will be on improving the reading, writing and calculating 
abilities of learners. The period 2010-2014 will lay the foundations for these improvements. In the period 
2014-2019 the province’s children will reap the fruits of a system that has been designed and managed to deliver 
on the targets set”.  
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Key service delivery improvements put in place in the year under review include the following:  
 
 Re-orientation of the system in every respect towards achieving the goals of improved academic 

performance in schools. This included the setting up of accountability structures to ensure that the academic 
targets set by schools become the deliverables of WCED officials at all levels.  

 Resources (human, text and financial) were directed towards improved support for schools. Steps that were 
taken included an overhaul of posts in which, for example, posts of acting secondees were advertised  and 
additional posts were provided to schools in need. 

 Development and expansion of a cost-effective, prioritised and innovative Infrastructure Plan to deal with 
backlogs and growth in learner numbers. 

 A decision that officials would offer courses at the CTLI instead of service providers. 
 Head Office vacancies at all post levels were not filled until the need for all posts and structures was 

evaluated. The implication has been that officials have taken on more functions in order to free more funds 
for direct support of schools. Linked to this was a shift in roles so that Head Office staff assumed 
responsibility for support for independent schools, thereby giving relief to district offices. 

 There was improved and streamlined communication with schools – for example early notification of events 
through an annual calendar. 

 The decision to have five vacancy lists in a year as opposed to the previous two to ensure greater 
responsiveness to human resource requirements.  

 Systems were put in place to minimise disruption to teaching time. These included on-going reminders to 
principals and staff that there should be no disruption to the instructional programme by visitors, NGOs and 
other activities. All meetings with teachers were held in the afternoon, after the normal school day. Meetings 
with principals and teachers were reduced in number. Information which could be distributed electronically 
was sent via this medium. The WCED implemented a school excursion policy which states that a school 
must apply to the district director before learners are taken on an excursion. The WCED gave schools dates 
when internal examinations could start (in both June and November), as well as the earliest time for 
examinations to end. Teacher development courses on Literacy and Numeracy were conducted during the 
school holidays. 

 
It is important to track service delivery standards. The first Customer Satisfaction Survey was conducted in 2009. 
The second, in 2010, contained additional questions. Of significance is that perceptions about service delivery, 
both through head office and the district offices, showed improvement. The inception of the circuit teams in 
2009 has met with a positive response. The rating for district-based support as “above average” doubled from 
24% in 2009 to 47% in 2010.  
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The service rendered by Special Needs, Curriculum, Institutional Management and Governance officials and by 
Circuit Team Management is rated below. Only 4% of respondents rated Circuit Teams as less than “satisfactory” 
and 66% saw them as either “good” or “excellent”. This translates into a pleasing 98% rating of “satisfactory and 
above” for 2010 compared with the 84% of 2009.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
As part of enhanced client orientation, one of the entrances to the WCED Head Office was re-furbished and 
staffed to become a Visitors’ Centre. This centre provides a waiting room and meeting facilities for members of 
the public who visit the WCED. The Visitors’ Centre, Call Centre, website and walk in centre have all experienced 
increased use and higher ratings in 2010.  
 
In the year under review, industrial action affected schooling for 16 days. This translated into 23 787 working 
days. Varying degrees of disruption to the teaching programme were reported in 1 303 schools. Interventions 
under the High School Improvement Programme, such as satellite tuition, extra classes and tutoring support were 
intensified in order to ensure that learning time was not reduced.  
 
The table on the next page provides learner enrolment data for the Western Cape public ordinary school system 
from 2000 – 2010 and shows fluctuating but overall growth in learner numbers. The enrolment pattern is impacted 
by the change, at a national level, in the Grade 1 admission age policy in 2000, which permitted schools to enrol 
only learners aged 7 in the year of first admission. As a result, the Grade 1 intake was reduced. When the age-
requirement was subsequently adjusted in 2004, with the advent of a further stipulation, there was increased 
enrolment again. 
 
The table also shows that there is good retention in the school system until Grade 10. The decline in numbers in 
Grades 11 and 12 is being addressed through enhanced attention to subject-selection at the end of Grade 9, 
better advice about career options and choices and strengthening of the academic support given at high school 
level.  
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Enrolment in public ordinary schools 2000 – 2010 
 
Year Gr 1 Gr 2 Gr 3 Gr 4 Gr 5 Gr 6 Gr 7 Gr 8 Gr 9 Gr 10 Gr 11 Gr 12 Total 

2000 64 844 81 865 92 343 91 949 85 766 80 658 75 813 80 026 70 634 63 840 48 934 40 996 877 668 

2001 81 790 62 960 81 832 94 302 89 254 83 305 77 778 82 190 71 966 67 034 50 206 39 910 882 527 

2002 86 969 77 026 64 134 83 022 93 188 86 786 80 865 75 601 80 450 69 752 51 618 40 468 889 879 

2003 86 916 82 454 75 931 66 033 82 383 92 341 84 514 81 154 73 200 81 739 51 746 39 644 898 055 

2004 104 105 82 130 81 489 76 781 66 060 82 574 89 614 85 053 78 964 80 756 54 199 39 451 921 176 

2005 93 515 94 231 80 695 80 809 74 984 66 141 81 953 88 778 82 169 81 577 56 657 39 303 920 812 

2006 87 650 85 972 89 828 80 443 77 811 73 106 65 347 78 926 80 595 83 529 57 536 40 198 900 941 

2007 92 818 82 562 83 914 89 973 78 674 78 021 72 733 66 406 80 697 86 495 61 938 42 624 916 855 

2008 91 853 83 267 79 454 85 891 87 116 78 290 76 146 71 410 72 914 79 133 63 819 43 470 912 763 

2009 93 601 82 158 80 385 83 150 82 382 85 621 76 262 75 227 79 795 68 405 60 812 45 692 913 490 

2010 98 086 83 046 79 155 84 234 80 290 81 402 82 777 75 426 85 114 70 630 53 799 44 8761 918 8352  
Data Source: 2000 – 2010: Annual Survey for Schools (Public Ordinary schools excluding LSEN unit learners) 
 
2.1.6. Overview of the organisational environment for 2010/11 
 
The WCED comprises the Provincial Ministry of Education, the provincial head office, eight district offices and 
public ordinary and special schools, FET colleges, adult community learning centres and ECD sites.  

The organisation aims to provide 
 officials who are caring, knowledgeable and organised to support schools, teachers and learners 
 teachers who are present, prepared and using texts 
 funding which is deployed to maximize success 
 sufficient and safe schools 
 an enabling environment for partners in education to contribute towards quality education: teacher unions, 

School Governing Bodies, private sector, Non-Governmental Organisations, independent schools, Higher 
Education Institutions and colleges.  
 

WCED activities – scope and scale*  
 

Learners **  965 058 
Public ordinary schools * 1 452 
Schools for learners with special needs  72 
Further education and training institutions 6 (43 sites) 
Adult community learning centres 142 (349 sites) 
District offices  8 
Teachers  31 672 
Public service staff (approved establishment) 8 751 

* Institutions current (All public ordinary schools, pre-Grade R to matric) (31 March 2011)  
**Source 2010: Annual Survey for schools pre-Grade R to matric) 
 

                                                 
1 Note that there were 45 783 candidates who wrote the Grade 12 National Senior Certificate. That NSC figure includes the candidates from 
independent (2 300) and special schools (78) – totals that are not reflected in this table. The figures in the above table are drawn from a particular date 
and do not account for learners who leave and enter the system after that date.  
2 Note that these totals do not include the 1101 LSEN Unit learners 
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The eight education district offices are split into 49 circuits which provide direct support to schools. The circuit 
teams are multifunctional teams with curriculum advisers; special education services professionals 
(psychologists, social workers, learning support advisers) and institutional management and governance 
advisers. Circuit team managers lead these support teams. 
 

Education Districts of WCED

 
The distribution of schools is as follows:  
 

Public Ordinary Schools and Learners per Education District and Circuit 
DISTRICT  1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 Total 

Cape 
Winelands 

Schools 40 35 33 38 30 30 33 36 275 
Learners 25 276 25 537 21 962 13 063 14 697 22 549 9 725 9 891 142 700 

Eden and 
Central Karoo 

Schools 33 32 24 32 40 39 28   228 

Learners 8 915 22 875 23 399 19 010 12 729 14 433 14 379   115 740 
Metro Central Schools 45 44 36 36 25 25     211 

Learners 28 625 21 777 22 094 23 088 17 931 17 524     131 039 
Metro East Schools 36 20 19 18 18 26     137 

Learners 38 636 21 704 20 636 19 381 21 298 26 832     148 487 
Metro North Schools 28 26 27 26 33 31 31   202 

Learners 24 346 18 621 30 190 23 532 22 915 21 529 31 566   172 699 
Metro South Schools 35 33 28 16 17 30 30   189 

Learners 26 269 20 962 18 082 12 796 17 890 32 602 28 151   156 752 
Overberg Schools 29 28 25           82 

Learners 10 594 18 495 10 438           39 527 
West Coast Schools 27 26 22 26 31       132 

Learners 13 888 9 748 16 419 7 555 10 504       58 114 
Note: Source: Annual Survey 2010 - All Grades: Pre-Grade R to Grade 12 plus LSEN. 1 452 schools as at 31 March 2011 
7 Schools closed: Blackwood SSKV Primary, Cafda Primary, Groote Post Primary, Napier High, Platdrif VGK Primary, Smuts-Malan High, 
Weltevreden Primary 
3 Schools opened: Claremont High,  Westlake Primary, Zwelihle Primary 
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2.1.7. Key policy developments and legislative changes 
 
Basic Education Laws Amendment Bill, 2009: The Department of Basic Education published the Basic 
Education Laws Amendment (BELA) Bill, 2009 for comment on 9 December 2009, in Government Gazette No. 
32790. The purpose of the Bill is to accommodate aspects of the creation of the Department of Basic Education 
and related matters thereby amending the National Education Policy Act (NEPA) and the South African Schools 
Act (SASA); amend the definitions of “parent” and “loan”; provide for various types of special schools, additional 
functions of school principals and training of governing bodies by a recognised governing body association. It also 
seeks to amend the Employment of Educators Act No. 76 of 1998, the South African Council for Educators Act 
No 31 of 2000 and General and Further Education and Training Quality Assurance Act No. 58 of 2001.  
 
The Western Cape Provincial School Education Amendment Act, No. 7 of 2010, was published in the 
Provincial Gazette Extraordinary, No. 6823, on 8 December 2010. The Act aligns the Western Cape Provincial 
Schools Act, 12 of 1997, with the South African Schools Act, 84 of 1996, which has been amended eight times 
during the same period; expands education policy-making powers of the Provincial Minister and rule-making 
powers of the Head of Department; provides for inspection of schools; regulates anew the establishment and 
functions of an education council for the province; provides for the distinction between special schools for 
learners with barriers to learning and special schools which provide education with a specialised focus; authorises 
the Provincial Minister to prescribe norms and standards regarding basic infrastructure and capacity in public 
schools; prohibits dangerous objects, illegal drugs and alcoholic liquor on school premises; prohibits political 
activities at school during school time; prohibits payment of unauthorised remuneration to certain employees; 
provides that certain educators shall be deemed discharged in certain circumstances; reduces the period of time 
for the lodging of certain grievances and expands the power of the Provincial Minister to make regulations.   
 
The National Policy for an Equitable Provision of an Enabling School Physical Teaching and Learning 
Environment was promulgated on the 11 June 2010 (Vol. 540, No. 33283). The regulations (norms and 
standards) pertaining to the policy have yet to be gazetted. 
 
The Policy on Learner Attendance was gazetted on 4 May 2010 and was implemented at all ordinary and 
special public schools from 1 January 2011. All South African public schools must establish and maintain a 
culture of regular school attendance. Each school has a duty to protect every learner’s fundamental right to 
education; and enrolment at a school places a learner under an obligation to attend school punctually and 
regularly, unless there is a valid reason for absence. The purpose of this policy is to (a) promote punctual and 
regular attendance at public schools; and (b) provide public schools and provincial education departments with 
standard procedures for recording, managing and monitoring learner attendance.  
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2.1.8. Departmental revenue  
 
The table below summarises the revenue the Department collected, consisting of administration fees (insurance 
premium collections), fees for reprographic services; refunds in respect of previous years and financial 
transactions in assets and liabilities. 
 
 

2007/08 
Actual 

2008/09 
Actual 

2009/10 
Actual 

2010/11 
Target 

2010/11 
Actual 

% 
deviation 

from 
target R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 

Sales of goods and services other than 
capital assets 9,049 8,297 9,127 9,466 11,193 18.2% 

Fines, penalties and forfeits 361 382 383 228 511 124.1% 

Interest, dividends and rent on land 1,524 1,227 1,394 1,998 324 -83.8% 

Sales of capital assets (Capital revenue)     -   

Financial transactions (Recovery of 
loans and advances) 20,458 12,639 15,543 11,182 10,206 -8.7% 

Total departmental receipts 31,392 22,545 26,747 22,874 22,234 -2.8% 
 
2.1.9. Departmental expenditure  
 
The table below gives an indication of the expenditure per Programme over the past 4 years. The department 
spent 99.6% of its allocated budget in 2010/11. 
 

Programmes 
2008/09 
Actual 

2009/10 
Actual 

2010/11 
Target 

2010/11 
Actual % deviation 

from target 
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 

1. Administration 393,529 415,605   440,064   425,918  -3.09% 
2. Public ordinary school education  7,410,535 8,587,360  9,691,042  9,687,499  -0.04% 
3. Independent school subsidies 44,119 55,522 59,709   59,696  -0.02% 
4. Public special school education 510,390 623,604 721,679   719,684  -0.28% 
5. Further education and training 367,190 368,917  447,043   446,971  -0.02% 
6. Adult Basic Education and Training 26,838 29,479 32,152   32,152  0.00% 
7. Early Childhood Development 228,748 288,620 365,586   345,895  -5.39% 
8. Auxiliary and associated services 211,129 244,206 240,937   237,928  -1.25% 
Total 9,192,478 10,613,313 11,998,212  11,955,743  -0.35% 
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2.1.10. Transfer payments 
 
As indicated in the table below, the department transferred 99.37% of the budgeted amount to its institutions.  
The bulk of the funds are calculated in terms of the Norms and Standards for the funding of the various 
institutions.  
 
Table: Summary of Transfer payments for 2010/11 (R’000) 
 

Programmes 
2008/09 
Actual 

2009/10 
Actual 

2010/11 
Target 

2010/11 
Actual 

% 
deviation 

from target 
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 

Public Ordinary Schools  553,673 604,506 624,737  602,685  -3.5% 
Independent Schools  44,119 55,522 59,709  59,696  0.0% 
Schools for Learners with Special Education Needs  95,081 115,014 106,146  119,552  12.6% 
Further Education and Training Colleges  186,057 163,969 165,042  165,042  0.0% 
ABET: Private Centres  22,020 22,578 24,058  24,987  3.9% 
ECD: Grade R: Public Schools  81,790 89,441 150,753  150,753  0.0% 
ECD: Grade R: Community Centres  34,455 45,732 45,287  45,287  0.0% 
Total 1,017,195 1,096,762 1,175,732  1,168,002  -0.7% 

 
2.1.11. Conditional Grants and earmarked funds 
 
Table: Summary of Conditional Grants for 2010/11 (R’000) 

Conditional Grant Adjusted 
Allocation 

2010/11 

Roll-over 
from 

2010/11 

Total 
Allocation 

2010/11 

Total 
Transfers 
Received 

Actual 
Expenditure 

2010/11 

%  
Expenditure 

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 

HIV/AIDS 15,392   15,392    15,392       14,440  94% 

National School Nutrition 
Programme (NSNP) 173,318   173,318  173,318         169,775  98% 

Further Education and Training 
College Sector   447,043  447,043  447,043     446,971 99.98% 

Provincial  Infrastructure Grant 255,062   255,062  255,062         255,062  100% 

Technical Secondary Schools 
Recapitalisation  3,288   3,288  3,288         3,253  98.9% 

 
All the requirements according to the Division of Revenue Act, 2010, in respect of the above-mentioned 
Conditional Grants were met: 

 All transfers received were deposited into the department’s bank account; 
 All the funds were spent according to the business plans; 
 All conditions of the conditional grants, as set out in the approved Business Plans, were met. 
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Life Skills: HIV/AIDS 

Key performance areas (KPA) Progress  
Advocacy 
Advocacy is ongoing at provincial, district, circuit team and school-community levels. The advocacy initiative has 
intentionally shifted from 'AIDS awareness' to strategic planning around evidence-based responses to HIV/AIDS, and 
related psychosocial and economic issues such as drug and alcohol abuse. Extra-mural, after-school and school holiday 
programmes are supported through various partnerships, to keep vulnerable learners safe and in school. ‘School-
community’, ‘public-private’ and ‘government-civil society’ partnerships and inter-sectoral collaboration are promoted to 
ensure locally-relevant, cost-effective and sustainable responses and reduce the reliance on financial resources and 
limited support personnel. Holistic health-through-education models such as Child-Friendly Schools (UNICEF), Health 
Promoting Schools (WHO) and Caring Schools (UCT) are promoted to assist with risk-reduction and AIDS prevention.   

Teacher development: Curriculum 
This Key Performance Area aims to ensure that teachers are adequately trained to provide HIV/AIDS Life Skills education 
and that schools are resourced and supported. The 2010/11 target of training 100 Grade 1-7, 100 Grade 8-9 and 50 
Grade 10-12 teachers per district has been reached. Training has explored alternative teaching methodologies.   

Leadership, Management and  Governance in schools 
In accordance with the National Education Policy Act: HIV/AIDS Policy for Educators and Learners (1996), it is obligatory 
for each school to develop its own HIV/AIDS Implementation Plan. This is then incorporated into the School Improvement 
Plan (SIP) of each school. Through a process of resource-mapping, schools have been encouraged to identify community 
partners and, where appropriate and/or necessary, to co-opt resource persons onto their School Governing Bodies (SGB).  

Care and Support 
Up to 5 teachers and 5 SGB members per school (depending on the size of the school) were targeted for Care and 
Support training. Training in the Soul City ‘Schools as Nodes of Care and Support’ (SNOC) model, for SGBs and school-
community partners, was implemented, in collaboration with Circuit Teams. First Aid kits have been purchased for all 
schools in the province and will be distributed in the second quarter of 2011. Sick bays at 80 selected quintile 1-3 schools 
have been upgraded according to need. 

Peer Education  
The secondary school peer education programme has been largely funded by the Global Fund (GF) over the past five 
years, during which 37 348 junior (Grade 10) peer educators were trained in GF schools alone, of whom 21 169 continued 
as senior (Grade 11) Peer Educators and 7 822 continued as Grade 12 mentors. This programme is jointly managed with 
the provincial Department of Health (DoH).  

Learning and Teaching Support Material (LTSM) 
The Western Cape produces HIV/AIDS Life Skills LTSM in three languages (English, Afrikaans and isiXhosa) and 
distributes these annually to schools. New LTSM produced by DBE (to replace the older, Curriculum 2005-aligned, LTSM) 
was edited and translated. The new LTSM for grades R – 9 was purchased and delivered to schools in the first quarter of 
2011. Specialised LTSM is also provided to several categories of ELSEN schools. HIV/AIDS LTSM is supplied in support 
of the curriculum. This included HIV/AIDS Life Skills related LTSM for school libraries which was supplied to all high 
schools in the first quarter of 2011.  

Monitoring, Support and Evaluation 
The Western Cape system of designated School HIV/AIDS Coordinators (supported also by volunteer Cluster 
Coordinators), positioned within the mandatory Health Advisory Committee (NEPA) and EWP 6 Institution-based Learner 
Support Teams (ILSTs or EST/TSTs), is in the process of being strengthened in order to increase schools’ independence 
and self-reliance in dealing with the impact of HIV and AIDS on education and the school community.  
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Life Skills: HIV/AIDS 

Key performance areas (KPA) Progress  
Management and Administration 
Leadership and management of this programme is focussed on the medium-term output and impact indicators contained 
in the international UNGASS framework and the National and the Provincial governments’ 2007-2011 strategic plans, 
wherein Education’s primary responsibilities are to ensure that (i) each year, for all learners grades 1-12, effective 
HIV/AIDS Life Skills classroom-based teaching takes place, so that (ii) Education can substantially contribute to the 
targeted 50% reduction in HIV prevalence levels amongst youth 15-24 yrs (by 2011)  Through inter-sectoral collaboration, 
this province has been effective in reducing HIV prevalence amongst youth. Mainstreaming of programme responsibilities 
aims at managing, and meeting, the province's targets and those of the Cabinet's National HIV/AIDS  
Strategic Plan 2007-2011.  

 

School Nutrition Programme 

Key performance areas (KPA) Progress  

Programme coverage 
415 829 learners at 1 000 targeted schools were provided with nutritious meals. Historically, the programme started in 
primary schools and has gradually extended to include secondary schools. In 2011, 18 Quintile 3 secondary schools were 
added to the programme and began to feed all learners from 1 April 2011.  

Materials and equipment 
The additional quintile 3 schools were all supplied with kitchen equipment and mobile kitchen units. 13 schools received 
money for renovations to their kitchen infrastructure. NSNP menu recipe booklets from the National NSNP office were 
distributed to all schools. Nutrition education material on the benefits of eating fruit and vegetables was also distributed.  
Capacity Building 
521 capacity building workshops were conducted for Volunteer Food Handlers on food and gas safety and hygiene. Three 
schools were nominated for the NSNP Best School awards. 
Additional Programmes 
A special pilot programme named Edutaining was conducted at schools in 5 education districts where the benefits of 
eating fresh fruit were highlighted through song and dance. During the June 2010 school holidays, the WCED organised 
educational programmes at several schools that serve disadvantaged communities. The purpose of this exercise was to 
contribute to keeping vulnerable learners from the streets during the 2010 Soccer World Cup. Refreshments were served 
to learners who attended these programmes.  
The menu 
Fresh fruit was introduced as an addition to the balanced and nutritious cooked menus. The learners receive a whole fruit 
twice a week. 
Food Gardens 
17 Food Production workshops were conducted: the number of schools with food gardens in the province increased from 
303 to 326. The Department of Agriculture (DoA) hosted the Provincial World Food Day. Schools with food gardens were 
visited on a regular basis for support purposes. The Department of Health, Department of Social Services, and the 
Department of Agriculture have formed an Integrated Food Security and Nutrition Task Team.  
Monitoring and evaluation 
Targeted schools were visited on a regular basis. The warehouses of all the current and new service providers were 
monitored on a bi-annual basis to ascertain whether food products comply with prescribed specifications.  
Other support 
Officials from the Environmental Health Office (Department of Health) continue to provide support in respect of food safety 
and nutrition as stated in the Service Level Agreement.   
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The department requested the Provincial Treasury to roll over the R3,473 million under-spending on the NSNP.  
The under-expenditure was due to the service providers' failure to submit their claims timeously, hence the NSNP 
applied for a roll over of the funds which had already been committed towards the payment of service provider 
claims.  
 
The FET College sector grant is used to provide the state funding for colleges. Details of the college outputs are 
recorded under Programme 5 of this document. Similarly the Provincial Infrastructure Grant is used to fund capital 
investment and details of this are provided below, under 2.1.12.  In terms of the Technical Schools 
Recapitalisation programme, 9 identified schools benefited from the construction of new workshops; 
refurbishment of workshops; purchase of new equipment; purchase of new tools; teacher training and the 
upgrading of computer laboratories. This is a 3 year programme. 
 
There were 2 earmarked funds as follows: 
 

Item Allocated 
R’000 

Spent 
R’000 

Early Childhood Development (Programme 7 – excluding infrastructure) R330 934 R311 243 
Consolidated Infrastructure and Maintenance (Including Conditional Grant) R535 990 R543 248 

 
The findings of the Foundation Phase research were widely disseminated, as reported under Programme 2, and 
the unspent funds utilised to support literacy and numeracy materials. The Early Childhood Development 
progress is reported under Programme 7.  
 
2.1.12. Capital investment, maintenance and asset management plan 
 
School buildings are classified in terms of a matrix of criteria in relation to their suitability and their operating 
capabilities. If the criteria are applied to all WCED schools, 218 schools (14%) are rated “poor” (of which 33 are 
leased); 1308 (86%) are rated “good” and 2 are “excellent” in the 2011 User-Asset Management Plan (U-AMP) of 
the WCED.  
 
Building projects completed during 2010/11 
 
New schools (26 over the MTEF) 
 
 Two new schools were handed over in 2010: Wallacedene High School and Tafelberg Special School 
 Two schools were handed over by January 2011: Claremont High School for Science, Technology, 

Engineering, Mathematics (STEM) and Khayelitsha COSAT 
 Three Mobile schools completed and handed over were: Naphakade Secondary School (July 2010), 

Khayamandi Primary School and Bardale High School (January 2011) 
 Six new schools to be handed over by July 2011: Westlake Primary School (April); Blue Downs Primary 

School; Delft High School 1; Delft High School 2; Delft Primary School 1; Delft Primary School 2 
 Six new schools are in construction: Citrusdal High School; Napakhade High School; Fisantekraal High 

School; Northpine Technical High School; Melkbosstrand High School and Sunningdale Primary School  
 Three new schools are in planning: Imyeso Wama Apile High School (Grabouw Secondary School); 

Wellington Primary School; Concordia High School 
 Two Special Schools are in planning: Cheré Botha and Rusthof 
 A fully donor-funded school is under development in Hout Bay  
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Replacement schools (replacement of schools built of inappropriate materials) [23 over MTEF]  
 
 One completed in 2010 and in use: Bongolethu Primary School 
 Wallacedene Primary School: 1st phase completed and school occupied. 
 One replacement school to be delivered by June 2011: Klapmuts Primary School 
 Nine schools in construction: Cloetesville Primary School; Thembalethu Primary School; Masibambane High 

School; M M Mateza Primary School; Bloekombos Primary School; Oaklands High School; Fairview Primary 
School; Enshona Primary School and Plantation Primary School 

 Twelve replacement schools in planning: New Eisleben High School; Itsitsa Primary School; Nalikamva 
Primary School; Kathleen Murray Primary School; Pacaltsdorp Primary School; Bottelary Primary School; 
Garden Village Primary School; Wes Einde Primary School; ACJ Pakhade Primary School; Rusthof Primary 
School; Formosa Primary School and St Thomas Primary School  

 
Additional classrooms 
 
 Expansion (100 classrooms): 5 projects were completed. 6 projects are under construction and 3 projects are 

in planning stage. 23 classrooms have been completed. 
 Relief classrooms (120 classrooms): 106 classrooms have been completed. The remaining 14 classrooms 

will be completed by May 2011. 
 Gr R classrooms: 94 classrooms were completed. A further 20 classrooms will be completed in June 2011. 
 Mobile units provided: 181 

 
Other 
 
 Forums/halls: 2 were completed at primary schools (Plantation Road and Siyazakha) and 1 at a high school 

(Indwe Secondary) 
 Toilets were provided at: Bongulethu (13); MM Mateza (6) and Wallacedene (13) primary schools; 

Wallacedene (37); Naphakade (13); Bardale (18) and Claremont (13) high schools. 
 
Expenditure is in keeping with industry norms. The department’s Implementing Agents (Department of Transport 
and Public Works and the PIU) handle all tender procedures on new buildings and projects in accordance with 
the Public Finance Management Act and other regulatory prescripts. 
 
Asset Management  
 
Immoveable assets 
 
The WCED uses the Education Management Information System (EMIS) and the Schools’ Register of Needs 
Information System (SRNIS) in managing immovable assets. 
 
Major moveable assets 
 
In respect of moveable assets, the WCED has an asset management unit which is part of the Supply Chain Unit. 
 
All furniture and equipment required for Head Office and the education district offices is purchased centrally and 
captured on an inventory of moveable assets according to the requirements prescribed by the National Treasury.  
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The following measures were taken to ensure an asset register that maintains accounting standards and ensures 
an effective, efficient and accurate reconciliation of information: 
 
 Annual stocktaking done by the department, as prescribed in the Treasury Regulations 
 Signing off of inventories by the responsible officials and certification by the Responsibility Managers 
 Issuing of circulars in line with Chapter 10 of Treasury Regulations 
 Procurement procedures for assets in the Accounting Officer’s System 
 Monthly reconciliation of purchases on LOGIS and the expenditure on BAS 
 Maintenance of an asset register containing all the information required in Treasury Regulations 

 
The mechanisms implemented to ensure an efficient system of identification, safeguarding, monitoring and 
record-keeping of moveable assets were as follows: 
 
 All assets were bar-coded, marked “RSA” and recorded on inventories. 
 All assets were identified in the moveable asset register in all asset categories and were allocated unique 

numbers (bar codes). 
 Responsibility managers are responsible for the safeguarding of their assets. 
 All moveable assets were recorded on an inventory per cost centre and location. Inventories were certified as 

correct by the cost centre managers and kept at each location. 
 
Schools 
 
The WCED purchased furniture and labour saving devices for schools. These items do not, however, form part of 
the WCED Asset Register. In terms of the South African Schools Act, 1996 (Act No 84 of 1996), these are 
considered to be inventory items of the schools. Schools must, therefore, report on these inventory items in their 
annual financial statements. The WCED Asset Register reflects the inventories for Head Office and the education 
districts and their respective service points. 
 
Plans regarding moveable assets, such as motor vehicles 
 
The Provincial Department of Transport and Public Works (Government Motor Transport) manages the provision, 
withdrawal and replacement of old and/or damaged Government Garage (GG) motor vehicles. They also 
formulate provincial policy with regard to the use of GG vehicles. The WCED is responsible for the licensing, 
maintenance and re-fuelling of the vehicles, as well as maintaining an asset register on the Fleetman System.  
 
The WCED ensures that the provincial policy is applied. It also maintains a register of vehicles in use by the 
WCED and monitors vehicle use by means of log sheets. 
 
The present fleet meets the current needs of the WCED. 
 
Maintenance 
 
Major maintenance projects undertaken during the period under review include: 
 

Number of projects Budget for 2010/11 
R’000 

Estimated final cost  
R’000 

231 R102,276 R102,276 
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The 2011 U-AMP indicates the following under the heading of “User Condition Rating” 
 

Condition Status General Description Rating 
Excellent No apparent defects.  Appearance is as new.  Risk index:  No effect on service 

capability.  No risk. C5 

Good Exhibits superficial wear and tear, minor defects and minor signs of deterioration to 
surface finishes.  Risk index:  Intermittent, minor inconvenience to operations.  
Probability of risk to health and safety or property is slight.  Low cost implication. 

C4 

Fair In average condition, deteriorated surfaces require attention; services are functional, 
but require attention, backlog maintenance work exists.  Risk index:  Constant 
inconvenience to operations.  Some risk to health and safety or property.  Medium 
cost implications. 

C3 

Poor Has deteriorated badly, with serious structural problems.  Poor general appearance 
with eroded protective coatings; elements are broken, services not performing; 
significant number of major defects.  Risk index:  Major disruption to service 
capability, high probability of risk to health and safety or property.  High cost 
implication/financial loss. 

C2 

Very Poor Has failed; not operational and unfit for occupancy.  Risk index: unusable, 
immediate high risk to security, health and safety or property.  Significant cost 
impact.  

C1 

 
Four hundred and seventy five (475) public ordinary schools in the Western Cape have been rated as “poor”.  
Leased schools and inappropriate structure schools (“plankie” schools) are disproportionately represented in this 
category. Over the years very little scheduled maintenance has been done by owners of leased properties. 
Property owners cite the low rental tariffs as the main reason why proper maintenance on leased schools cannot 
be executed. Nine hundred and fifty eight (958) schools are rated as “fair”.  A bigger proportion of these schools 
should be rated as “good” but the maintenance backlog on these buildings has affected ratings, reflecting under-
expenditure on maintenance. 
 
Twenty (20) public ordinary schools are rated as “C4”.  
 
The condition of WCED buildings is deteriorating and will continue to deteriorate unless the maintenance budget 
is boosted or alternative models are adopted. What is required annually for maintenance is 1.5% of the value of 
the stock. Although scheduled maintenance projects proceed according to plan, annual increases in costs impact 
on the extent of what can be addressed. Hence, concerns about aging and deteriorating stock remain. 
A summary of the figures is presented below. 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Maintenance Shortfall  
Financial Year Asset Value 1,5% Needed for 

Maintenance 
Budget 

Provided 
Shortfall 

2004 10,560,000 158,400 73,719 84,681 
2005 12,000,000 180,000 76,174 103,826 
2006 12,000,000 180,000 90,037 89,963 
2007 15,052,800 225,792 37,192 188,600 
2008 15,052,800 225,792 52,363 173,429 
2009 15,052,800 225,792 73,719 152,073 
2010 17,357,885 260,368 102,363 158,005 
2011 18,225,779 273,387 108,413 164,974 
Total backlog since 2004 1,115,551  
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Programme 1: Administration 

Purpose  
To provide overall management of and support to the education system in accordance with the National 
Education Policy Act, South African Schools’ Act, Public Finance Management Act and other relevant policies 

 
The Administration programme consists of the following sub-programmes3: 
 
Office of the Minister for Education 
○ to provide for the functioning of the office of the Minister for Education 
Corporate services 
○ to provide management services that are not education specific for the education system 
Education management 
○ to provide education management services for the education system 
Human resource development 
○ to provide human resource development for head office-based staff 
Education Management Information System (EMIS) 
○ to provide education management information in accordance with the National Education Information Policy 
 
Strategic Objectives4 
 

Strategic 
Objective 1.1 

To direct human and financial resources to those districts and schools that have historically 
experienced under-investment and ensure overall financial and HR management.  

Strategic 
Objective 1.2 

To improve the responsiveness and efficiency of the WCED through a focus on improving the 
Department’s business processes and systems. 

Strategic 
Objective 1.3 

To provide targeted management training for officials, members of school management teams and 
SGBs. 

Strategic 
Objective 1.4 

To ensure that teachers are equipped to teach by means of ongoing professional development and 
training and classroom-based support if required.  

 
Service Delivery Objectives and Indicators 
 

Programme Performance Measures (National Measures) 
PPM101: Number of public schools that use SA SAMS to provide data to the national learner tracking system  
PPM102: Number of public schools that can be contacted electronically (e-mail)  
PPM103: Percentage of education current expenditure going towards non-personnel items  

                                                 
3 The sub-programmes are part of the national sector template and are Treasury funding categories. The funds in Programme 1 cover costs related to 
the administration of the system. 
4 The objectives as outlined in the APP of 2010 have been realigned and inserted into the APP for 2011 accordingly. See appendix for the 
2010 list 
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Programme Performance Measures, Strategic objectives and Indicators: Discussion of Variances  
►PPM 101: Number of public schools that use SA SAMS to provide data to the national learner tracking system 
Target: 1459 
Actual: 1452 
Discussion: The Central Education Management System (CEMIS) is used to provide this data.  All public ordinary schools 
administer CEMIS. There were 1452 public ordinary schools as at 31 March 2011. There were 1 456 schools open in 
2010. Seven schools closed at the end of 2010 and three new schools opened in January 2011 and therefore all schools 
provide data to the national learner tracking system. 
►PPM 102: Number of schools that can be contacted electronically (e-mail) 
Target: 1459 
Actual:  1447 
Discussion:  At 31 March 2011 there were 1452 open public ordinary schools (see above). 5 schools could not be 
contacted by email at the end of the financial year viz. Claremont High School, Hindle High School, Hindle Road West 
Primary, Pietersfontein NGK Primary and Westlake Primary. Claremont and Westlake are new schools. The others are in 
areas where the cabling has been stolen and the wire footprint is not established. 
►PPM 103: Percentage of education current expenditure going towards non-personnel items 
Target: 21.5% 
Actual: 19.46%  
Discussion: The expenditure for non-personnel is slightly less than the target due to the underspending on the classrooms 
for Grade R as well as on school nutrition.  The WCED has requested that these amounts be rolled over. 
Strategic Objectives 
SO 1.1. Ensure financial management 
Target: Unqualified Audit 
Actual: Findings pending 
Discussion: 
Pending 
SO 1.2. Publication of vacancy lists per annum 
Target: 5 
Actual: 7 
Discussion: Target exceeded. The additional lists were included to accommodate the positive response from schools and 
in order to further enhance rapid and effective filling of posts to ensure optimal operations in schools. 
SO 1.3. Numbers of additional schools to undergo Whole School Evaluation   
Target: 90 
Actual: 90 
Discussion: Target met. WSE was conducted at 90 schools across the education districts. Each school and the relevant 
district director received an individual report. Two trend reports were compiled and disseminated. The schools visited in 
2010 were classified to alert the WCED to those schools in need of urgent intervention as well as the well-functioning 
schools. 
SO 1.4. Number of additional schools secured with an alarm linked to armed response, burglar bars, stone guards.   
Target: 50 
Actual: 50 
Discussion: Target met. Fifty new schools received core security infrastructure (motorized gates; pedestrian monitoring 
gates; alarm systems linked to armed response; barbed wire and mesh wire; burglar bars) and benefited from the training 
of peer mediators. CCTV cameras were installed at selected schools and holiday security was provided where necessary. 
Occupational Health and Safety and Disaster Management training was offered, as well as training in drug testing policy. 
Approved drug testing devices were supplied in high-risk cases, combined with search and seizure exercises and the 
supply of hand-held metal detectors. 
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Programme Performance Measures, Strategic objectives and Indicators: Discussion of Variances  
SO 1.5. Numbers of educators attending INSET courses at the CTLI. 
Target: 3 000 
Actual: 3 378 
Discussion: 811 teachers attended 29 courses; 337 Principals and school management team members attended 10 
courses and 2 230 teachers and principals attended seminars and conferences. The courses offered curriculum content 
and methodology in the Foundation, Intermediate and Senior phases and school management and leadership 
development programmes. In addition to these intensive two- and four-week courses, the CTLI offered seminars and 
conferences on Reading, Mathematics and school leadership.  
SO 1.6. Number of schools using i-SAMS 
Target: 200 
Actual: 57 
Discussion: The Integrated Schools Administration and Management System is a national system which is to be 
progressively introduced into schools. Training started in June 2009 after a variety of delays to the project while technical 
problems were being resolved. 52 of the 100 pilot schools started on i-SAMS in the third quarter of 2010.  The rest of the 
trained pilot schools requested that they only start in the new year when the 2011 learner data would be ready for 
migration to i-SAMS. 70 additional schools completed training during February and March 2011. They requested to start in 
the second quarter due to survey, data and back-end infrastructure pressure which affected the integration processes.  
Most of the 170 trained schools will migrate early in the second school term. It is clear that the timeframes for 
implementation of this programme must be adjusted. However, the lessons from the piloting process will strengthen the 
extension of this programme.  
Programme Performance Indicators 
PPI 1.1. Deviations in respect of procurement matters 
Target: 28 
Actual: 19 
Discussion: This was an improvement on the target set. There were 4 deviations because of operational requirements and 
15 related to bus contracts i.e. they were, effectively, linked to one root cause. 
PPI 1.2.  Days taken to finalise grievances 
Target: 30 
Actual: 30 
Discussion: All grievances were handled according to regulations and inside the stipulated timeframe.  
PPI 1.3. Number of additional schools with computer facilities for teaching and learning 
Target: 160 
Actual:  196 
Discussion: Target exceeded. Not only was this target exceeded by 36 facilities, but a further 83 outdated installations 
were upgraded. The provision of facilities is supported by training for staff, as well as technical support and a set of 
suitable software. Only 156 schools do not yet have computer facilities.  This means that the Khanya programme will draw 
to an end by the end of March 2012. 

 
In general the WCED has registered strong performance against the above set of measures and targets.  
This emphasises the fact that attention has been paid to systems’ improvements. These measures are designed 
to strengthen the ability of schools to meet the organisational goals of learners reaching their academic potential.  
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Programme 2: Public School Education 
 
Purpose 
 
To provide public ordinary education from Grades 1 to 12, in accordance with the South African Schools Act, 
1996 
 
The Ordinary School Education programme comprises the following sub-programmes5: 

 
Public primary schools 
○ to provide specific public primary schools with resources required for Grades 1 to 7  
Public secondary schools 
○ to provide specific public secondary schools with resources required for Grades 8 to 12  
Professional services 
○ to provide educators and learners with departmentally managed support services 
Human resource development 
○ to provide for the professional and other development of educators and non-educators  
National School Nutrition Programme 
○ to provide identified poor and hungry learners in public ordinary primary schools with the minimum food they 

will need to learn effectively in school 
 

Strategic Objectives6 
 

Programme 2: Strategic objective 
Strategic 
Objective 2.1. 

To ensure that literacy and numeracy outcomes improve by directing maximum resources (both human 
and financial) to the first three years of schooling. This will be coupled with universal and compulsory 
testing of learners from Grades 1 to 6 from 2010. Benchmarks and targets will be set at each school. 

Strategic 
Objective 2.2. 

To ensure excellent management of schools with officials, principals and teachers held to account for 
their role in improving individual school performance. 

Strategic 
Objective 2.3. 

To ensure that every classroom is text-rich, with reading books for each Grade 1-6 classroom and 
textbooks for all grades 1 -12 for each subject, and to make greater use of technology to deliver a quality 
curriculum into the classroom. 

Strategic 
Objective 2.4. 

To provide targeted food and other poverty-alleviation and safety measures to address the needs of 
poor learners. 

Strategic 
Objective 2.5. 

To ensure prioritised, cost-effective and efficient infrastructure maintenance.  

Strategic 
Objective 2.6. 

To ensure that schools and teachers are provided to match demographic trends. 

 

                                                 
5 The sub-programmes are part of the national sector template and are Treasury funding categories. The funds in Programme 2 are assigned to 
cover the main budget of the WCED and include teacher salaries, infrastructure and resourcing costs and the school nutrition programme. 
6 The objectives as outlined in the APP of 2010 have been realigned and inserted into the APP for 2011 accordingly. See appendix for the 
2010 list 
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Service Delivery Objectives and Indicators 
 

Programme Performance Measures (National Measures) 
PPM201: Number of learners enrolled in public ordinary schools 
PPM202: Number of educators employed in public ordinary schools 
PPM203: Number of non-educator staff employed in public ordinary schools 
Removed from national list because of data verification challenges:  
PPM204: Number of public ordinary primary schools with an average of more than 40 learners per class unit & PPM 205: 
Number of public ordinary secondary schools with an average of more than 35 learners per class unit 
PPM206: Number of learners in public ordinary schools benefiting from the National School Nutrition Programme 
PPM207: Number of learners in public ordinary schools benefiting from learner transport 
PPM208: Number of learners in public ordinary schools benefiting from the “No Fee School” policy 
PPM209: Number of public ordinary schools without water supply 
PPM210: Number of public ordinary schools without electricity 
PPM211: Number of public ordinary schools without sanitation facilities  
PPM212: Number of classrooms  in public ordinary schools  
PPM213: Number of specialist rooms to be built in public ordinary schools (all rooms except classrooms- include 
laboratories, stock rooms, sick bay, kitchen, etc) 
PPM214: Number of learners with special education needs that are enrolled in public ordinary schools 
PPM215: Number of full service schools 
PPM216: Number of schools visited at least once a quarter by a circuit manager 

 
Programme policy developments during 2010/11 
  
Norms and standards for school funding 
 
The Department of Basic Education amended the National Norms and Standards for School Funding 
(Government Gazette 33971, dated 28 January 2011), with 1 April 2011 as the implementation date. 
The amendments deal with the provision of operational funds to no-fee schools (Section 138A) and with 
compensation for fee exemptions for fee paying schools (Section 170A).  
 
The Department of Basic Education further amended the National Norms and Standards for School Funding in 
Government Gazette 22973 (dated 31 January 2011). This  amendment to Section 177(1)(a) and 177 (3) allows 
for the Grade 3 and Grade 6 Annual National Assessments in public schools, to be used to measure learner 
achievement in those independent schools which are eligible for subsidy, as of 2012. 
 
The NCS for Grades R – 12:  
 
Government Gazette (32836 no.1227 of 29 December 2009) indicated that learner portfolios and common tasks 
for assessment (Grade 9 CTAs) would be discontinued with immediate effect and reduced the number of 
assignments per subject.  The Department of Basic Education completed the draft Curriculum and Assessment 
Policy Statements (CAPS) in March 2011. The National Curriculum Statements have been refined and 
repackaged into the CAPs which define teaching time, content, skills, Learning and Teaching Support Materials 
needed and the assessment weightings and prescriptions. They have the added benefit of containing all 
requirements in one document. The CAPS will be implemented in the Foundation Phase and Grade 10 in 2012, in 
the Intermediate Phase (Grades 4 – 6) and Senior Phase (Grades 7 – 9) as well as in Grade 11 in 2013 and in 
Grade 12 in 2014. 
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WCED Learner Transport Policy for Public Schools:  
 
The Learner Transport Policy for Public Schools was distributed to schools on 14 September 2010 (Circular 32 
of 2010). The purpose of the policy is to lay down clear criteria for decisions on when to provide transport for 
learners attending public ordinary schools in the Western Cape, and to prioritise the provision of transport to 
outlying areas which are 5 kilometres or more from the nearest appropriate school and where no public transport 
is available.  
 
Review of WCED Policy on the Provision, Opening, Merger and Closing of Public Schools  
 
The draft policy provides a framework which will expedite the establishment, opening, merger and closing of 
public schools. This policy will describe the processes which will make a contribution to ensuring larger, better 
resourced schools in the Western Cape Province. Amendments to the existing policy have been completed.  
 
The Government Immovable Asset Management Act (GIAMA) - Infrastructure Planning.   
 
From 2010/11, Infrastructure Plans have been developed in terms of the regulations of this Act. The Infrastructure 
Plan used previously, in terms of stipulations of National Treasury will be replaced by the User Asset 
Management Plan (U-AMP), as stipulated by the National Department of Public Works.  
 
National Policy for an Equitable Provision of an Enabling School Physical Teaching and Learning 
Environment.   
 
The policy was published in 11 June 2010 (Government Gazette No 33283). Overall, the aim of the policy is to 
regulate and formalise the provision of school infrastructure and to provide guidelines that aim at an equitable 
provision of an enabling physical teaching and learning environment for all learners in South Africa. It indicates 
clear roles and responsibilities of all role players and clarifies accountability in the provision of school 
infrastructure. Key aspects of the policy are: i) the development of the minimum norms and standards for school 
infrastructure to ensure equity in the provisioning  of school infrastructure, ii) the establishment of nationally 
standardised criteria and iii) procedures for the identification and prioritization of the location of facilities.  
 
Learner Attendance Policy 
 
The National Policy on Learner Attendance was distributed to schools on 24 August 2010 together with 
Circular 29 of 2010 which provides guidelines on attendance records in school. Schools were also provided with 
Attendance Schedules, a pro-forma template to assist with the drafting of a school policy on learner attendance 
and two small policy booklets. The policy has been implemented in schools since 1 January 2011.  
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Programme Performance Measures, Strategic Objectives and Indicators: Discussion of Variances 
►PPM 201: Number of learners enrolled in public ordinary schools 
Target: 914 965 
Actual: 919 936 
Discussion: The pattern in the learner numbers from grades 2 to 12 conforms to historical trends. The overall growth of   5 
971 over the 2009 total enrolment of 913 965 stems mainly from the enrolment of additional learners in Grade 1 in 2010. 
►PPM 202: Number of educators employed in public ordinary schools 
Target: 28 540 
Actual:  28 695 
Discussion:  The objective in respect of the allocation of educator posts to schools was to maintain stability. In addition 
posts were allocated to the Foundation Phase and to schools that had increased learner enrolment.  Funding for 
additional posts came from savings. 
►PPM 203:Number of non-educator staff employed in public ordinary schools 
Target: 6 709 
Actual: 6 681 
Discussion: The WCED conducted a review of all public ordinary school non-educator staff establishments in line with the 
new post provision model proposed by the Department of Basic Education during the reporting period. The findings will be 
further evaluated, both from a budgetary and a service delivery perspective, and further implementation will take place 
during 2011/12.     
►PPM 204:Number of public ordinary primary schools with an average of more than 40 learners per class unit 
This PPM was removed from the national set because of data verification problems.  
►PPM 205:Number of public ordinary secondary schools with an average of more than 35 learners per class unit
This PPM was removed from the national set because of data verification problems. 
►PPM 206:Number of learners in public ordinary schools benefiting from the National School Nutrition Programme 
Target: 345 000 
Actual: 415 829 
Discussion:  Provision was made in the NSNP planning to add additional learners in the following categories: 
* where learner enrolment has increased. 
* to include schools that were reclassified as quintile 3 or lower. 
* to include more learners in quintile 3 secondary schools, where possible. 
Since a bid tender was to be awarded during the financial year, estimates were made in terms of possible bid prices.  It 
was planned that should bid prices be lower than estimated; the difference would be spent on increasing the number of 
targeted learners. In the 4th quarter, Quintile 3 schools were added.  
►PPM 207:Number of learners in public ordinary schools benefiting from learner transport 
Target: 47 000 
Actual: 48 786 
Discussion: The number of learners in public ordinary schools that benefit from learner transport has reflected an overall 
increase due to, among others, the following factors: 
 Additional learners having to be transported on existing approved routes.  
 New routes approved due to a need for additional learners to be transported.  

At the same time there has been the curtailment of existing routes when some learners, for example, move to other 
schools or other areas and the termination of existing routes when the original purpose for the route changes, e.g. when a 
new school is built and learners can attend a school close to their home. 
The WCED aims to reduce the numbers of learners dependent on the learner transport system by building schools in 
these areas. 
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Programme Performance Measures, Strategic Objectives and Indicators: Discussion of Variances 
►PPM 208:Number of learners in public ordinary schools benefiting from the “No Fee School” policy 
Target: 364 533 
Actual: 365 112 
Discussion:  All learners in National Quintile 1 – 3 schools benefit from the no fee school policy. 
►PPM 209: Number of public ordinary schools without water supply 
Target: 0 
Actual: 0 
Discussion: There are no schools that do not have a water supply. 
►PPM 210: Number of public ordinary schools without electricity 
Target: 0 
Actual: 0 
Discussion: There are no schools that do not have electricity. 
►PPM 211: Number of public ordinary schools without sanitation facilities 
Target: 0 
Actual: 0 
Discussion: There are no schools that do not have sanitation facilities. The Nondzame Primary School shares a premises 
with Pniel Primary in a temporary arrangement and has use of their facilities. 
►PPM 212: Number of classrooms  in public ordinary schools 
Target: 121 
Actual: 394 
Discussion: In view of the expansion, in year, of the budget from R444m to R535m a number of new projects were 
undertaken. These included the additional classrooms project with a provision of 106 "relief" classrooms and 23 
"expansion" classrooms.  In addition there were 173 mobile units provided. 
►PPM 213:Number of specialist rooms to be built in public ordinary schools (all rooms except classrooms- include: 
laboratories, stock rooms, sick bay, kitchen, etc) 
Target: 59 
Actual: 95 
Discussion: In view of the expansion, in year, of the budget from R444m to R535m a number of new projects were 
undertaken.  
►PPM 214:Number of learners with special education needs that are enrolled in public ordinary schools 
Target: 14 000 
Actual: 12 691 
Discussion: As full-service schools supported by Inclusive Education outreach teams based at Special Schools are being 
developed, more learners with the need for moderate levels of specialised support are being assisted in mainstream 
schools. In addition learners are moving into specialised schools as space becomes available.  There is improved data in 
respect of learners who qualify for special support. 
►PPM 215:Number of full service schools 
Target: 32 
Actual: 39 
Discussion:  39 ELSEN units were established bringing the total to 108 Full Service Schools with 119 ELSEN units.  
The growth in this sector is dependent on the availability of resources (financial and human). 
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Programme Performance Measures, Strategic Objectives and Indicators: Discussion of Variances 
►PPM 216:Number of schools visited at least once a quarter by a circuit manager 
Target: 1 454 
Actual: 1 453 
Discussion: There were 9 schools in total that were not visited in each of the four quarters. An average of 1453 schools 
was visited. This should be understood in the context that the total number of schools in the province at the end of the 
financial year is 1 452, although for the other three quarters there were 1457 schools. 
Strategic Objectives 
SO 2.1 Learners retained in the school system from Grades 10 – 12 
Target: 55% 
Actual: 56.7% 
Discussion: This represents an improvement which is significant, bearing in mind the large numbers involved. 
Programme Performance Indicators 
►PPI 2.1.  Percentage of learners in Grade 3 attaining acceptable outcomes in literacy 
Target: 55% 
Actual:  54.9% 
Discussion: Grade 3 learners were last tested in 2008.  Performance is 0.1% below  the set target for literacy in 2010 
►PPI 2.2. Percentage  of learners in Grade 3 attaining acceptable outcomes in numeracy 
Target: 40% 
Actual:  48.3% 
Discussion: Grade 3 learners were last tested in 2008. Performance is 8.3% above the set target for numeracy in 2010 
►PPI 2.3.  Percentage of learners in Grade 6 attaining acceptable outcomes in Literacy 
Target: 45% 
Actual:  52.3% 
Discussion: Grade 6 learners performed 7.3% higher than the target of 45% set for literacy in 2010. 
►PPI 2.4.  Percentage  of learners in Grade 6 attaining acceptable outcomes in Numeracy 
Target: 15% 
Actual: 24.4% 
Discussion: Grade 6 learners performed 9.4% higher than the target of 15% set for numeracy in 2010. Although the 
performance is largely unsatisfactory, the progress indicates that schools are taking steps to improve the teaching of 
Mathematics. The ongoing intervention programme should realise continued improvement.  
►PPI 2.5.  Percentage of learners in Grade 9 attaining acceptable outcomes in Languages 
Target: 45% 
Actual: 51.8%  
Discussion: Grade 9 learners performed 6.8% higher than the target of 45% set for language in 2010. This test was a pilot 
exercise to establish a baseline. 
►PPI 2.6.  Percentage of learners in Grade 9 attaining acceptable outcomes in Mathematics 
Target: 40% 
Actual: 
Discussion: Grade 9 learners performed 30.4% lower than the target of 40% set for mathematics in 2010. This test was a 
pilot exercise to establish a baseline. 
►PPI 2.7. Schools with a pass rate where <60% pass   
Target: 55 
Actual: 78 
Discussion: 
The total came down from 85 in the preceding year by 7 schools. This is a reduction in the number and a reversal of a 
trend. A number of poorly-performing schools did experience an additional setback as a result of the industrial action. 16 
of the 78 schools are new in this category while 23 of the 85 schools of 2009 progressed well enough to score a >60% 
pass rate in 2010. 
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Programme Performance Measures, Strategic Objectives and Indicators: Discussion of Variances 
►PPI 2.8. National Senior Certificate Pass Rate   
Target: 80% 
Actual: 76.8% 
Discussion: Of significance here is that 1 122 additional learners passed and that the downward trend in pass rate since 
2004 was reversed. This was an improvement on the 75.7% of 2009.  
►PPI 2.9. National Senior Certificate Pass Numbers  
Target: 36 000 
Actual: 35 139 
Discussion: The total exceeded the total number of 34 017 passes in 2009. 
►PPI 2.10.  % of learners who qualify for  Bachelor Degree study 
Target: 34% 
Actual: 31.48% 
Discussion: The target was not reached although the numbers qualifying increased from 14 324 in 2009 to 14 414. 
►PPI 2.11. Numbers of learners who qualify for Bachelor Degree study 
Target: 15 000 
Actual: 14 414 
Discussion: The target was not reached although the numbers qualifying increased from 14 324 in 2009 to 14 414. 
►PPI 2.12.  Numbers of learners passing Mathematics in the National Senior Certificate 
Target: 13 500 
Actual:  11 571  
Discussion:  11 571 passed. This unsatisfactory result is receiving urgent attention. 
►PPI 2.13.  Numbers of learners passing Physical Science in the National Senior Certificate 
Target: 10 000 
Actual:  7 524  
Discussion:  12 626 candidates wrote Physical Sciences in 2010 compared with 13 349 in 2009. This was a reduction of 
723 candidates. Although the number of candidates went down, the pass rate for the subject increased by 6.67% from 
2009 to 2010. The percentage of candidates achieving distinctions increased from 1.57% in 2009 to 9.02% in 2010.  7 
524 passed. 

 
Discussion 
 
The overall improvement in academic performance is testimony to the efforts of many layers of support staff and 
systems (books, buildings and equipment) and is attributable to the teachers who have embraced the vision of 
making real improvement and who have responded to both the target-setting exercises and the practical support 
provided.  
 
Literacy and numeracy 
 
The WCED has a comprehensive plan to improve literacy and numeracy in Grades 1 - 6. The following 
interventions took place in the year under review: 
- The Literacy and Numeracy Programme in 2010 provided 250 primary schools with intensive training and 

site-based support for teachers from Grades 1-6.   
- Structured reading schemes were provided to 508 primary schools. This provision is accompanied by 

classroom support. 
- Mathematics textbooks were delivered in 2010 for all learners in grades 2-7, for use in 2011. Learners in 

grades 1 – 3 will receive textbooks for all subjects in 2012 and in Grades 4 – 6 in 2013. 
- Workbooks for Grades 1-6 were supplied by the Department of Basic Education, with delivery support from 

the WCED.  
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The WCED participated in the design and fieldwork of the Grade 3 research project conducted by the University 
of Stellenbosch. A pamphlet based on the findings and recommendations of the study was distributed to all 
primary schools at the end of January 2011. Implementation of the research findings, especially those regarding 
the pace of curriculum coverage and teacher expectation of the performance levels that learners can reach, will 
be extended to all schools and monitored. An encouraging finding was that the schools are considered to be 
generally operating well and do not show the signs of dysfunctionality that the researchers expected to find.     
 
High School Programme introduced 
 
A High School intervention programme was developed for implementation in January 2010. It started with a 
detailed analysis of the Grade 12 results per school. This was followed by the development of a broad strategy in 
response to the 2009 results. The strategy included the identification of those subjects with high failure rate, in 
order to indicate those problem areas that needed special support. Subject performance data, which supplied 
schools with their results for each question on the 2009 National Senior Certificate question papers, was 
communicated to each school. Thereafter, academic performance targets were set for each school, together with 
a plan for how to achieve the targets of the number of learners who should pass the NSC in 2010. 
 
Districts selected a number of experienced tutors for high enrolment subjects and set up a programme of tutoring. 
Additional textbooks were procured, according to funds available, and systems were put in place to ensure the 
use and retrieval of textbooks by learners and teachers. Stationery was also provided. Each learner was provided 
with a pack of past examination papers as well as a booklet, “Tips for Success in NSC”. There were information 
sessions with parents and other stakeholders about examination preparation. 
 
To support teaching and learning, additional classes were offered by teachers in the afternoons and over week-
ends and holidays. Subject-specific support by Curriculum Advisers was provided during visits to schools at least 
twice per term. Maximum utilization of all school days and instructional time was stressed. A Telematics 
programme, with televised classes by master teachers, was delivered at 120 selected schools and districts held 
support and standard setting meetings. 
 
Teacher development and support 
 
The equivalent of 1% of the WCED payroll is utilised to improve the skills and competency of all WCED 
employees. The skill levels of teachers are addressed through various Workplace Skills’ Programme (WSP) 
development interventions. These are focused on training needs, identified though the School Improvement Plans 
and District Improvement Plans, and are facilitated at district level. 
 
A variety of training courses, seminars and conferences was offered by the CTLI, which is the core in-service 
training facility of the WCED. The courses offered curriculum content and methodology in Foundation, 
Intermediate and Senior phases. Another priority area was school management and leadership development 
programmes. In addition to intensive two- and four-week courses in these areas, the CTLI also presented various 
seminars and conferences on topical issues. Through these interventions, the CTLI reached 3 378 teachers in the 
financial year.  
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Targeted formal courses, such as the Advanced Certificate in Education (ACE) focusing on a variety of fields, 
including Mathematics, Natural Science, School Leadership, Librarianship, Life Orientation, Foundation Phase 
and Language, were presented at higher education institutions. These courses are conceptualised and funded by 
the WCED in an effort to improve the qualifications of teachers and improve quality of learning and teaching in the 
classroom. 2 100 bursaries were awarded to serving teachers to improve their qualifications and 106 pre-service 
bursaries were awarded in scarce subject areas.   
 
School Safety 
 
The Safe Schools Programme has a three-pronged strategy, namely i) a Safe Schools Call Centre, where various 
issues relating to school-based violence can be reported; ii) counselling through the Call Centre for affected and 
traumatised individuals and iii) the provision of physical security.  
 
In addition to the Safe Schools Call Centre and safety infrastructure support, the WCED offers educational 
programmes to encourage positive pursuits such as sports, arts, drama and information about future careers. The 
programmes focus on attitudinal or behavioural changes; creative and constructive approaches to conflict 
management; and mediation training. Safety resource officers are employed to support schools with school safety 
committees and school safety plans; to establish support and/or preventative programmes and to act as positive 
role models and mentors at 109 high-risk schools.  
 
Learner support officers follow up on truant learners and assess learner problems. They provide mentoring and 
coaching to learners at risk and ensure that learners access services they need. Learner support officers facilitate 
the “Youth in Control” project as part of the holiday programme. This project aims to reinforce positive attitudes 
and behaviour through channelling of learners at risk to attend appropriate educational structures and to develop 
skills to implement community projects.During the school recess in June and July 2010, the Safety Management 
unit offered programmes to learners; the focus was on “healthy lifestyles and physical exercise”. 
 
District support innovations 
 
School Readiness: A process to assess the readiness of schools for the start of the 2011 school year started in 
September 2010. An instrument to assess schools on six items (staffing; school timetable; learner admissions; 
LTSM; clean neat and graffiti-free buildings and grounds) was used by district officials to determine which schools 
were ready to open for teaching. Officials then assisted the schools to address the gaps and by the opening of 
schools on 17 January 2011, the majority of schools were ready for their learners. In addition, schools were 
requested to make sure that their grounds were clean and neat, and that the grass was cut.  Some schools were 
assisted with this by the Department of Correctional Services. 
 
In order to build the capacity of district staff, training was planned and organised for the various categories of staff 
(School Psychologists, IMG managers, Curriculum Advisers, Circuit Team Managers, Social Workers and 
Administrative Development Advisers). A total of 583 officials attended the training. 
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Awards for outstanding teachers 
 
A number of teachers from the Western Cape excelled in the national teaching awards as folllows: 
1. Excellence in Pimary School Leadeship 

Ms Michelene Ashley - Kirstenhof Primary School  
2. Excellence in Primary School Leadership 

Mr Imtiaz Adams - Surrey Primary School  
3. Excellence in Secondary School Leadership 

Mr David Millar - Norman Henshilwood High School  
4. Excellence in Inclusive Education and Special Needs Teaching 

Ms Zelda de Villiers - Jan Kriel School 
5. Excellence in Grade R Teaching 

Ms Juanita Van der Merwe - Piketberg High School  
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Programme 3: Independent School Subsidies 
 
Purpose 
 
To support independent schools in accordance with the South African Schools Act, 1996 
 
The Independent School subsidies’ programme comprises the following sub-programmes 
 
Primary phase 
○ to support independent schools offering Grades 1 to 7  
Secondary phase 
○ to support independent schools offering Grades 8 to 12  
 
Strategic Objective 
 

Strategic 
Objective 3.1 

To render support to independent schools in accordance with the relevant legislation to ensure quality 
education for learners in these schools 

 
Programme policy developments during 2010/11  
 
According to the South African Constitution, anyone may establish, and run at own cost, an independent school 
subject to various criteria. These schools may not discriminate on the basis of race, must sustain a quality of 
education which is not lower than that of a similar public school and must be registered with the provincial 
department of education.  
 
In 2010, support for independent schools became the responsibility of Head Office so as to free district officials to 
concentrate support on public schools. The WCED visited 127 of the 212 registered independent schools. 
The schools receive all circulars and correspondence of the WCED, are invited to attend workshops and are 
encouraged to use the WCED website.  
 
Regulations relating to the registration of and subsidies to independent schools 
 
The Minister for Education in the Province of the Western Cape has, in terms of Sections 46 and 48 of the South 
African Schools Act, 1996 (Act 84 of 1996), as amended, promulgated the revision of the regulations determining 
the following:  
 
1.  Requirements and conditions for registration 
2. Procedures for registration 
3. Registration certificates 
4. Permission for learners to register and sit for 
examinations 

5. Monitoring and access to independent schools 
6. Subsidies to independent schools 
7. Withdrawal of registration and closure of 
independent schools 
8. Appeals to the Provincial Minister 

 
Draft regulations were sent to all independent schools and role players for comment by 18 March 2011. These 
comments will be considered and the final draft document compiled. Once approved by the Provincial Minister for 
Education, the regulations will be published in the Government Gazette for implementation by January 2012.  
 
Strategic Objectives and indicators 
 

Programme Performance Measures (National measures) 
►PPM301: Number of subsidised learners in Independent Schools 
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Programme Performance Measures, Strategic Objectives and Indicators: Discussion of Variances 

►PPM301: Number of subsidised learners in Independent Schools 

Target: 18 100 
Actual: 16 625 
Discussion: The drop in numbers is due to fewer schools receiving a subsidy because of the closure of 1 school and the 8 
schools that no longer qualify for a subsidy. Schools had previously been eligible for various levels of subsidy, based on 
the school fees charged in 2004. However, in 2010, schools were re-categorised based on their 2008 school fees. This 
meant that the increase in school fees over the years had placed these schools in a category which no longer qualifies for 
a subsidy. 

 
Discussion 
 
The submission of appropriate data by independent schools to the WCED has been inconsistent. Except 
for 2008, there has been a higher rate of return on the SNAP Survey than on the Annual School Survey. 
The 2010 programme of visits to independent schools led to a sharp increase in returns of the SNAP Survey in 
2010 and all of the 185 schools submitted responses in 2011.  

 

 
SNAP 07 
Submitted 

SNAP 08 
Submitted 

SNAP 09 
Submitted 

SNAP 10 
Submitted 

SNAP 11 
Submitted 

No 73 63 96 105 185 
% 57.48 49.61 75.59 82.6 100% 

 
 ASS 07 

Submitted 
ASS 08 
Submitted 

ASS 09 
Submitted 

ASS 10 
Submitted 

No 59 86 62 161 
% 46.46 67.72 48.82 88.0 

 
Table: Consistency of ASS and SS submissions based on sample of 127 schools (Source: EMIS)  

 
Management of the independent school sector was located under the Directorate: Institutional Management and 
Governance in 2010, thereby freeing the education districts to concentrate on public schools. Visits were 
undertaken to 127 Independent Schools (IS) to provide administrative, curriculum and institutional management 
support. In this regard a meeting was held with all Cape Town-based independent schools to provide plans 
for 2010. Teachers in independent schools attended workshops offered by the WCED. Independent schools were 
trained on CEMIS and a data management tool was set up to track visits and reports received. 
 
The WCED finalized the processing and payment of subsidies to 104 institutions and new applications for 
subsidies were processed in respect of 5 schools. Schools were informed of the final allocation of subsidies 
for 2011/12 by 30 September 2010.  
 
Four new applications for registration were processed. Audits of non-performing schools resulted in the 
deregistration of one school. The WCED also investigated complaints such as poor academic performance, poor 
management, school fees and operating as a non-registered institution.  
 
Proposed amendments to the regulations for independent schools have been sent to schools for comment. These 
cover registration requirements, and the conditions under which this registration could be withdrawn; the 
registration of learners for examinations; issues of monitoring and access and regulations pertaining to subsidies.  
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Programme 4: Public Special School Education 
 
Purpose: To provide compulsory public education in special schools in accordance with the South African 
Schools Act, 1996, and White Paper 6 on Special Needs’ Education: Building an Inclusive Education and Training 
System 

 
The Public Special School Education programme consists of the following sub-programmes: 
 
Schools 
○ to provide specific public special schools with resources 
Professional services 
○ to support public special schools 
Human resource development 
○ to provide for the professional development of educators and non-educators in public special schools 
 
Strategic Objective 
 

Strategic 
Objective 4.1. 

To maximise successful academic and social participation of all learners in the culture and curriculum of 
educational institutions and minimise barriers to learning (Education White Paper 6)   

 
Programme policy developments for 2010/11 
 
On 1 April 2010 the Children’s Act, 2005 (Act 38 of 2005) came into effect. In terms of Section 196 (3) of the 
Children’s Act, 2005 (Act 38 of 2005), those schools of industry and reform schools, which are currently the 
responsibility of a provincial Department of Education, become the responsibility of the provincial Department of 
Social Development, within two years of the commencement of the relevant chapter in the Act. This implies that 
schools of industry and reform schools in South Africa should be transferred to the Department of Social 
Development by the end of April 2012. 
 
Although the youth care and education centres of the WCED admit learners referred by the children’s and 
juvenile justice courts, they do not fall under the category of institutions to be transferred to the Department of 
Social Development. The youth care and education centres are special schools for learners with special 
educational needs, established under Section 12 of the Western Cape Provincial School Education Act 
(Act 12 of 1997). This means that only the function of accommodating learners referred by the courts in these 
special schools will be transferred to the Department of Social Development. The Department of Basic Education 
will facilitate the process in conjunction with the Department of Social Development and other relevant 
departments. Currently three institutions accommodate learners referred in terms of the relevant acts: Eureka 
Special Youth and Education Centre; Ottery Youth and Education Centre: and Wellington Youth and Education 
Centre 
 
Strategic objectives and indicators 
 

Programme Performance Measures (national measures) 
PPM401: Number of learners enrolled in public special schools 
PPM402: Number of educators employed in public special schools 
PPM403: Number of professional  non-teaching staff employed in public special schools  
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Programme Performance Measures, Strategic objectives and Indicators: Discussion of Variances 
►PPM401: Number of learners enrolled in public special schools 
Target: 17 510 
Actual: 18 292 
Discussion: The increase in the number of learners in this sector is the result of the incremental growth of newly 
established schools of skills over a period of four years. 
►PPM402:Number of educators employed in public special schools 
Target: 1 680 
Actual: 1 768  
Discussion: 10 additional posts for the Autism Spectrum Disorders (ASD) were allocated as from 1 January 2011 to 
increase access to learners with ASD. In addition, additional inclusive educator posts were allocated for the establishment 
of resource centres.    
►PPM403: Number of professional  non-teaching staff employed in public special schools   
Target: 945 
Actual:  958  
Discussion: A growth of 29 posts took place as a result of expansion in the schools of skills. Further increase in the 
numbers of non-teaching staff was as a result of contract workers being converted from contract to permanent and the 
filling of vacant substantive posts with contract employees.  
Programme Performance Indicators 
PPI 4.1 Full service schools/Elsen units (Cumulative) 
Target: 139 
Actual: 108  
Discussion: 39 ELSEN units were established bringing the total to 108 Full Service Schools. The growth in this sector is 
dependent on the availability of resources, both financial and human. In the past, schools were only called full-service if 
they had a unit class. The unit class required a teacher. Hence if posts were not provided, unit classes could not be started. 
A broader understanding, now being adopted, is that full-service schools are "inclusive" schools and do not necessarily 
need to have unit classes. In fact it is preferable that they do not segregate learners in this way and rather provide support 
to learners who need it via specialist personnel, assistive devices and capacity building of teachers. Unit classes have been 
established at 106 mainstream schools. These schools are being converted into full-service schools. An additional 33 
mainstream schools to be supported by Inclusive Education Support teams based at Special School Resource Centres will 
be converted into full-service schools in 2011. 
PPI 4.2 Resource Centres 
Target: 10 
Actual: 17 
Discussion: Funds from the DBE assisted with the increase in the number of resource centres.  Sixteen external Inclusive 
Education Support Teams have been set up at designated special schools in order to provide education support to those 
learners experiencing barriers to learning in public ordinary schools in the vicinity.  A provincial Autism Spectrum Disorder 
team was also established at Vera School to assist with the development of units for learners on the autistic spectrum at 
designated special schools. 
PPI 4.3 Number of schools of skills 
Target:  19 
Actual: 17 
Discussion: The planned two schools of skills did not open for the following reasons:  
- the school in Metro North Education District, namely Bishops School of Skills, could not open because the premises of 
the school are occupied by a displaced school, due to infrastructure problems  
 - the school designated to have been developed into a school of skills was earmarked instead for the development of an 
ELSEN school to cater for the diverse needs of the Metro South education district. 
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Discussion 
 
Expansion of inclusive education 
 
Inclusive education is a nationally-funded initiative and the expansion of inclusive education and structures 
remains a priority for all provincial education departments to ensure greater accessibility to all learners 
experiencing barriers to learning.   
 
Structures to support expansion of Inclusive Education 
 
The vision of Education White Paper 6 guides provincial departments of education in developing an inclusive 
education and training system. According to Education White Paper 6, all sectors of the education system should 
be equipped to identify barriers to learning and development in order to accommodate the diverse learning needs 
of all learners 
 
During 2010/11 the expansion of inclusive education (IE) was facilitated at school level through the development 
of institutional level support teams; the establishment of ELSEN-units at public ordinary schools designated to be 
strengthened as full-service schools and the strengthening of designated special schools as resource centres in 
order to render specialised education support to learners experiencing barriers to learning at public ordinary 
schools. At district level there was training of district-based support teams.   
 
Strengthening of support at school level 
 
Institution-level support teams (ILST) were established at the majority of public schools. 
 
Public ordinary schools as full-service schools 
 
The number of ELSEN-units has increased.  The majority of learners enrolled at ELSEN-units would, in the past, 
have been referred to special schools. These learners may now attend a school nearer to home in line with 
Education White Paper (EWP) 6. The teachers at ELSEN units are supported by the district-based support 
teams, circuit teams and inclusive education outreach teams allocated to resource centres/special schools. 
 
Special schools 
 
Currently, the WCED has 72 special schools accommodating learners with special needs. The following hospital 
schools were integrated with existing resource centres: Sonstraal Hospital School with Lentegeur Special School; 
Brewelskloof Hospital School with Pionier School and Prince Alice Hospital School with Groote Schuur Hospital 
School. The increase in the number of learners at special schools is the result of the incremental growth over a 
period of four years of existing schools of skills, as well as the development of two additional schools of skills.  
 
Resource centres 
 
Sixteen (16) designated resource centres received additional posts for inclusive education outreach teams  
(IE Teams) to support learners experiencing barriers to learning at public ordinary schools and at full service 
schools and ELSEN-units. These IE teams comprise of an educator therapist, a psychologist and a learning 
support educator.   
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A provincial outreach team for Autism Spectrum Disorders (ASD) has been allocated to Vera School to assist with 
the establishment of units for learners with ASD and the screening of learners. This team capacitates teachers at 
designated special schools by way of hands-on training, monitoring and evaluation of ASD specific intervention 
strategies. 
 
Learning support at public ordinary schools 
 
Literacy workshops for learning support educators and learning support advisors took place during the year. 
742 applications for placement of learners in ELSEN units were received and processed. 
 
Strengthening of support at district level 
 
District-based support teams: The SLES staff, in conjunction with the circuit teams, provides specialised 
education support to learners experiencing barriers to learning. The specialised education support personnel 
consist of psychologists, social workers, learning support advisers, senior therapists, special school advisers, 
HIV/AIDS and school nutrition officials.  
 
Screening, Identification Assessment Strategy (SIAS) 
 
The SIAS strategy has been refined in an attempt to reduce the administrative load of teachers. DBE is also 
reviewing these proposals with a view to implementation. 
 
Schools of skills 
 
Seventeen schools of skills and five sections for skills training at special schools have been established in the 
Western Cape. Currently 7 185 learners are enrolled at schools of skills and 731 learners at skills units at public 
special schools.  The schools of skills form part of the Senior Phase of the GET (Grades 6 – 8). Tuition is split 
with half of the teaching programme devoted to the academic curriculum and half to practical skills training. 
Further development of the curriculum for schools of skills will be undertaken in 2011/12.  
 
Human resource development 
 
Education therapists 
 
Provision has been made for an education therapist post on the staff establishment of each education district. 
The purpose of these posts is to assist the Inclusive Education (IE) teams with the rollout of IE and to contribute 
toward development of intervention programmes for learners experiencing barriers in public ordinary schools.  
 
School psychologists 
 
105 psychologists, psychometrists and counsellors employed by the WCED attended a “Therapeutic 
Interventions” workshop which was accredited with the Health Professions Council of South Africa for continuous 
professional development points. 
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School social workers 
 
School social workers attended training to enhance their understanding, analysis of, and response to, school and 
education problems. School social workers received training in the Children’s Act, 2005 (Act 38 of 2005), and the 
Sexual Offences Act, as well as in the ten priority areas of the WCED. A draft WCED Strategy for the Prevention 
and Management of Substance Abuse in Schools has been provided. 
 
Positive discipline, youth development and restorative strategies 
 
The WCED encourages positive discipline, youth development and restorative strategies. Training in the positive 
behaviour management programme continued. A total of 144 teachers and district staff were trained in two 
programmes.  
 
Specialised Interventions 
 
Learner discipline 
 
The increase in the number of applications for expulsion during 2010/2011 confirms that learner discipline 
remains a challenge and underscores the need for a structured and co-ordinated approach. The WCED strategy 
of encouraging positive behaviour provides a framework for transforming schools to become positive 
environments underpinned by universal values. Such environments promote internal and external support 
strategies for challenging learners in order for them to make amends and to progress toward responsible 
behaviour. Equally important is training opportunities for teachers in restorative practices, enabling them to 
respond to challenging behaviour. 
 
School Health Screening and support 
 
Circulars on measles, polio and H1N1 were distributed to schools. 
 
The Departments of Education and Health established the School Health Screening Task Team to develop 
systems and procedures for the rollout of school health screening in the province. Early identification of barriers to 
learning is critical to address barriers to learning, to enhance the child’s development, and provide support for the 
family. Early intervention has shown that such children (a) need fewer special educational and other rehabilitative 
services later in life; (b) learners are retained in a grade less often; and (c) in some cases learners concerned 
were indistinguishable from non-handicapped peers years after the intervention.  
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Programme 5: Further Education and Training 
 
Purpose:  
 
To provide FET at public FET colleges in accordance with the Further Education and Training Colleges Act 
(2006) 

The FET programme comprises the following sub-programmes: 
 
Public institutions 
○ to provide specific public FET colleges with resources 
Professional services 
○ to support public FET colleges 
Human resource development 
○ to provide for the professional development of educators and non-educators in public FET colleges 
 
Strategic Objective 
 

Strategic 
Objective 5.1 

To ensure institutional and programme planning alignment in order to deliver relevant, responsive 
programmes towards meeting local business, industry, community and student needs and to maintain 
an enabling environment for high quality integrated theory/practical programme delivery through 
institutional governance and management and operational support at all college levels  

 
Programme policy development during 2010/11 
 
Higher education institutions, FET colleges, SETAs and Adult Education and Training centres are now jointly 
overseen by the provincial education departments and the newly established Department of Higher Education 
and Training (DHET). The intention is that FET Colleges will become a national competency. The DHET and 
provincial education departments and political heads have signed a protocol of agreement on the transition and 
interim governance and management of the colleges.  
 
The Constitution Amendment Bill of 2011 was published on 21 January 2011. It aims to amend the constitution in 
line with the decision to transfer the provincial functions related to FET and AET to DHET. Comments were due 
by 15 March 2011. 
 
The National Norms and Standards for funding FET Colleges determined in section 23 of the Further Education 
and Training Colleges Act, No. 16 of 2006, was published in Government Gazette No. 32010 on 16 March 2009. 
The norms were implemented with effect 1 April 2010.  Essentially the norms and standards are based on the 
cost of providing the National Certificate: Vocational Programmes.  
 
Section 13 of the funding norms states that the funding formula has three components, namely personnel; capital 
and non-personnel/non-capital.The transfer of funds to colleges occurs in the form of a conditional grant, with 
monthly transfers.  
 
The Further Education and Training Colleges Amendment Bill, 2011 (Gazette 34222) was presented on 
15 April 2011 for public comment. The overall intention is “to amend the FETC Act, 2006, so as to remove all 
references to provincial authority; to substitute functions previously assigned to the Member of Executive Council 
with the Minister; to remove all references to the Head of Department and substitute with the Director-General; to 
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provide for the prohibition of a member of Council or a member of staff to conduct business, directly or indirectly 
with the concerned FETC which business is in conflict of interest with the concerned public FETC; to provide for 
transitional arrangements with regard to public service posts and teacher posts, staff, disciplinary measures; and 
policy made by the Member of the Executive Council under the principal Act or any provincial law, necessary for 
the effective governance, management and funding of public FETCs”  
 
At the beginning of 2011, colleges were authorised to re-introduce Report 191 Programmes for engineering 
related trades at levels N1-N3 and to re-introduce all Report 191 Programmes at levels N4-N6. Accordingly the 
enrolment numbers for these programmes reflect an increase. 
 
Strategic Objectives and indicators 
 

Programme Performance Measures (national measures) 
PPM501: Number of students enrolled in NC(V) courses in FET Colleges 
PPM502: Number of FET College NC(V) students who completed full courses successfully 
PPM503: Number of FET College students who have successfully completed learnership programmes  
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Programme Performance Measures, Strategic objectives and Indicators: Discussion of Variances 
►PPM 501: Number of students enrolled in NC(V) courses in FET Colleges 
Target: 10 700 
Actual: 12 967 
Discussion: The colleges enrolled more than the original DHET target because provincial funding was made available for 
increasing NC(V) enrolment numbers 
►PPM 502: Number of FET College NC(V) students who completed full courses successfully 
Target: 6 250 
Actual: 3 465 
Discussion: The NC (V) supplementary exam results have not been included in this figure because the results have not yet 
been received. In past years these results increased the completion rate by between 1.5% and 2%. There are still subjects 
with very low pass rates, e.g. Electronics (Level 2), Introduction to Systems Development (Level 2), Principles of Computer 
Programming (Level 3) and Mathematics (Level 4). It should be noted that students have to pass all seven subjects for 
certification purposes. The pass percentage requirement  for Language and Life Orientation is 40%, for Mathematics and 
Mathematical Literacy 30% and for vocational subjects 50%  
►PPM503: Number of FET College students who have successfully completed learnership programmes  
Target: 7 800 
Discussion: This PPM was removed from the national set because of data verification challenges. 
 
Discussion 
 
In terms of a Protocol Agreement between WCED and DHET the province remains responsible for supporting 
colleges until the Constitutional amendments and changes to the FETC Act have taken place. WCED supports 
the colleges through planning, funding and funding transfers, governance and management, curriculum 
implementation and examination administration. WCED and DHET monitor and report on college performance 
regarding enrolments, financial management, moderation of assessments and examinations.  

The 2011/12 budget allocation for Programme 5 was increased to allow more students to enrol in colleges. The 
2010/11 Schedule 4 FET Colleges Conditional Grant funds were transferred to colleges as scheduled. 
Relationship-building between FET Colleges and SETAs continues. Internship and on-course work placement are 
planned in conjunction with the Western Cape Department of Economic Development and the SETAs. 

In January 2011 DHET allowed colleges to again enrol students in the phased out Report 191 (NATED) N4 – N6 
and Engineering N1 – N3. This step was accompanied by an increase in bursary allocations as well as allowing 
Report 191 students to benefit from this bursary scheme.  

Curriculum and examination results 
 
The NCV results were subject to delays at the end of 2008, 2009 and again in 2010. The reasons for this are 
wide-ranging and complex and the subject of an ongoing investigation. 
 
The numbers of NC (V) student enrolled for examinations in 2009 and 2010 increased as follows:  
 

 2009 2010 
NC(V) Level 2 7 353 7 716 
NC(V) Level 3 2 470 3 126 
NC(V) Level 4 748 1 361 
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The second group of NC (V) Level 4 students achieved a certification rate of 38,8% compared to 41% in 2009. 
The Level 3 students achieved a very low, but improving, certification rate of 29% compared to 25% in 2009 and 
Level 2 a certification rate of 29% compared to 19% in 2009.  

 
NATED Engineering Studies achieved an average certification rate of 12,8%  and Business Studies 46.4%. 
This category includes National Education Policy 191 and 190 Programmes that are provided on levels N1-N6. 

 
Academic Support 
 
The colleges continued to provide intensive academic support to students. The academic support includes, 
amongst others, mathematics support, remedial classes, tutorials, additional learning materials and basic feeding 
schemes. The WCED Curriculum Planners continue to support NC(V) curriculum implementation. Their assess-
ment and moderation processes aim at improving the quality of curriculum delivery. 
 
Student enrolments for 2011 
In February 2011 the colleges enrolled 21 902 students who have access to public funded programmes. 
This includes an increase of 1 036 NC (V) students from 2010. In addition, they enrolled 5 255 students on 
occupational programmes, bringing the total current enrolment to 27 157. As Colleges enrol students at different 
stages during the year it is expected that overall figures will increase, particularly as a consequence of the 
reinstatement of the Report 191 programmes. 

Access  
 
Colleges are expanding their modes and delivery times to enrol more students. In most cases, facilities are used 
to their full capacity for full-time as well as part-time delivery. Most colleges operate their open learning centres to 
the benefit of both their own students and the surrounding communities.  
 
Bursaries 
 
In 2010 there were 2 637 students on WCED bursaries and 5 385 on DHET FET College (NC (V)) bursaries. 
A number of colleges have started their own bursary funds to support needy students.   
 
Business Management Systems 
 
The WCED supported FET colleges with initial funding to acquire a new electronic college administration 
programme. The system has now been fully implemented at four colleges, while the other two colleges plan 
implementation in the latter part of 2011. WCED continues to support the use of an academic management 
system called ASSET (Advanced Software Solutions to Education and Training). The ASSET system is used to 
plan internal continuous assessment, quality assure college-designed assessment instruments and moderate 
assessment processes to ensure credible results.  
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New FET College Mandate 
 
From 2008 to 2010 colleges expanded their programme delivery and increased their student numbers from 
39 083 to 45 056. Access is further supported with bursary funding. Most campuses have extended their delivery 
hours to meet these increasing numbers. The current infrastructure though, does not allow for extensive increase 
without investment in new and expanded infrastructure. 
 
The three year National Certificate:  Vocational programmes are: 
 National Certificate Office Administration 
 National Certificate Marketing 
 National Certificate Finance, Economics and Accounting 
 National Certificate Management 
 National Certificate Civil Engineering and Building Construction 
 National Certificate Engineering and Related Design 
 National Certificate Electrical Infrastructure and Construction 
 National Certificate Information Technology and Computer Science 
 National Certificate Primary Agriculture 
 National Certificate Hospitality 
 National Certificate Tourism 
 National Certificate Safety in Society 
 National Certificate in Mechatronics 
 National Certificate in Education and Development 
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Programme 6: Adult Education and Training 
 
Purpose:  To provide ABET in accordance with the Adult Basic Education and Training Act, 2000 
 
The ABET programme comprises the following sub-programmes: 
 
Subsidies to private centres 
○ to support specific private ABET sites through subsidies 
Professional services 
○ to support ABET sites 
Human resource development 
○ to provide for the professional development of educators and non-educators at ABET sites 
 
Strategic Objective  
 

Strategic 
Objective 6.1 

To provide support to A(B)ET management and governance through policy development and strategic 
interventions that facilitate effective curriculum delivery in Adult Learning Centres; to provide educators 
and students at ABET sites with departmentally managed curriculum support services and to provide for 
the professional development of educators and non-educators 

 
Programme policy developments in 2010/11 
 
The Constitution Amendment Bill of 2011 was published on 21 January 2011. It aims to amend the constitution 
in line with the decision to transfer the provincial functions related to FET and AET to DHET. Comments were due 
by 15 March 2011. 
  
The Higher Education and Training Laws Amendment Bill was published on 7 December 2010. It aims to 
amend the FET Act, 2006 and the Adult Basic Education and Training Act, 2000, so as to amend certain 
definitions; to make provision for the employment of educators at public centres by inserting provisions with 
regard to employers of educators, salaries and other conditions of service of educators, the educator 
establishment, powers of employers, appointments and the filling of posts, the transfer of educators, the 
secondment of educators, the retirement of educators, the discharge of educators, incapacity and misconduct  
and the performance of other work by educators; to provide for transitional arrangements with regard to public 
centres; to make provision for the determination of national education policy for public centres, for directive  
principles of national education policy, for consultation on policy and legislation, for the publication of national 
education policy and for the monitoring and evaluation of adult education and training; and to provide for quality 
assurance in respect of the qualifications offered by public and private centres. 
 
Regulations relating to the Registration of Private ABET Centres 
 
After initial publication for comment the regulations were reworked and tabled with the Department of the Premier: 
State Attorney. The regulations were also aligned to the Amended AET Act, published in December 2010 by the 
Department of Higher Education. The regulations were published in Provincial Gazette, No. 6838, on 
4 March 2011. 
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Interim General Education and Training Certificate (GETC) Adult Education and Training (ABET)  
 
On 11 December 2009, the revised interim General Education and Training Certificate (GETC) Adult Education 
and Training (AET) registered under ID No 64309 at SAQA was published. The qualification was gazetted on 
5 November 2009, and is approved for adult learners at ABET Level 4 (NQF level1) for public and private centres.   
 
Strategic Objectives and indicators 
 

Programme Performance Measures (national measures) 
PPM601: Number of learners enrolled in public ABET Centres  
PPM602: Number of educators employed in public ABET Centres  
PPM603: Number of learners who graduated in the basic ABET/NQF level 1 programme  
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Programme Performance Measures, Strategic Objectives and Indicators: discussion of variances 
►PPM601: Number of learners enrolled in public ABET Centres  
Target: 34 700 
Actual: 40 120  
Discussion: 2 067 more learners enrolled at CLCs during the period under review. 1 384 more learners registered at NQF 
4 (Grade 12) compared to 2009. This is due to the envisaged termination of the old NQF 4 curriculum at AET Centres in 
June 2011. As learners became increasingly aware that the envisaged last exams for Grade 12 under the old curriculum 
were to be written in June 2011, CLCs experienced a significant increase in registration for Grade 12 over the last 2 
years. The Kha Ri Gude programme also contributed to an increase of learner numbers at ABET Level 2.  
►PM602: Number of educators employed in public ABET Centres 
Target: 908 
Actual: 962 
Discussion: This total includes the part-time educators and full-time contract Centre Managers and Site Co-ordinators at 
CLCs. 38 Site Coordinators and 32 Centre Managers are appointed on a full-time contract basis. The employment of full-
time contract staff brought much needed stability to the sector. The improvement in basic conditions of AET practitioners 
is currently under investigation. The target was originally set including the numbers of educators in private centres and 
employed by the Department of Community Safety. It has been adjusted to include only those in public ABET Centres. 
The number of employees is variable as the sector is impacted by the conditions of service. 
►PPM603: Number of learners who graduated in the basic ABET/NQF level 1 programme  
Target: 103 
Actual: 214 
Discussion: This represents a significant increase. In contrast to learners at public ordinary schools, learners in AET 
Centre do not sit for all Learning Areas at one exam. Credits towards a full qualification are accumulated over a period of 
time. This PPM was removed from the national set because of data verification challenges. 

 
Discussion 
 
The relocation of the Adult Education and Training sector to the Ministry of Higher Education and Training will 
necessitate a review of the way the sector has functioned. It opens up new and exciting possibilities e.g. the 
formation of partnerships with FET colleges in order to offer an enhanced service. On the other hand it poses 
questions of where centres will be accommodated. Details of the future landscape are the subject of analysis and 
discussion.     

It is critical to attract appropriately qualified staff to the sector at competitive salary packages. The appointment of 
AET staff is dependent on labour legislation being promulgated and there are delays in this process. 
The implementation of the gazetted Norms and Standards Funding for Adult Learning Centres will require centres 
to be better equipped to offer a more professional service for the community.  

Academic performance 
 
418 students enrolled for the May/June 2010 A(B)ET Level 4 exams: 289 of these sat for the exams of whom 179 
passed. The A(B)ET Level 4 pass rate for October 2010 of 80.7% is significantly higher than the 65.0% pass rate 
in 2009 and 62.2% in 2008. Generally there has been an improvement in learner performance in almost all the 
learning areas.  
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Support offered 
 
A provincial audit of all CLCs by the sub-directorate and District IMG Managers was conducted during 
September-October 2010. Norms and standards for registered AET centres were developed and the money is 
paid to centres quarterly. All CLCs were informed in December 2010 of Norms and Standards funding for 
2011/12. 104 CLCs will be funded amounting to R 29 554 594. Successful Adult Learning Week activities were 
held in all districts. This culminated in a 2-day provincial conference in Hartenbos. 
 
The procedure manual for Centre Managers was revised and updated to include the new GETC curriculum. 
The manual was reprinted and distributed to all CLCs. Annexures to the manual will be placed on a CD and 
distributed to all centres. 
 
Skills Development and Learnerships 
 
194 learners were certificated in short skills courses. 50 candidates were recruited for learnerships.  
 
Regulations developed and published  
 
The WCED published “Regulations for the Registration of Private Centres” in Gazette No. 6695 on 
8 February 2010. These regulations aim to regulate the provision of AET Services by private providers in the 
Western Cape. They compel such providers to register with the WCED and clearly define the infrastructure 
requirements and learning and teaching environment for the successful implementation of AET programmes by 
these providers. 
 
Following a process of wide consultation, “Draft Regulations for Centre Governing Bodies” were finalised and will 
be published. Also included in these regulations is a framework for the functioning of RCLs at AET Institutions. 
Some further changes will have to be made due to amendment of the ABET Act 2000 which took place on 
7 of December 2010. These draft regulations will be published for comment.  
 
Kha Ri Gude  
 
The Kha Ri Gude Mass Literacy campaign was launched in April 2008 with the intention of enabling 4.7 million 
South Africans to become literate and numerate in one of the eleven official languages by 2012. Learners are 
taught to read and write in their mother tongue in line with A(B)ET level 1 unit standards. Learners have to 
complete twenty assessment activities (10 for literacy and 10 for numeracy) in their Learner Assessment 
Portfolios (LAPS). The LAPS are moderated and verified by SAQA. Successful learners will have their records 
uploaded onto the SAQA National Learners’ Record Database (NLRD). For 2009 11 173 learners were registered 
in the Western Cape. 9 430 submitted their LAPS and 7 525 learners were declared competent. The Campaign 
reportedly reached 16 520 learners during 2010.  
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Adult Education Programmes to employees of governmental departments  
 
The WCED continued its provision of Adult Education Programmes to employees of Provincial and National 
Government Departments. There are currently 543 partnership learners in the system. There are ten provincial 
partnerships governed by Memoranda of Understanding (MOUs) with other provincial departments and with the 
Departments of Public Works, Environmental Affairs and Correctional Services. Through these partnerships, 
employees of provincial departments are given the opportunity to obtain a GETC. A “Transversal Policy for the 
Delivery of ABET to Employees of Provincial Government Departments” is in place. Partnerships are developed 
at provincial and centre level. An MOU has been signed with Theewaterskloof Municipality and the MOU with the 
South African Navy has been revised to reflect the extension to the curriculum offered to their employees at 
Simonstown Naval Base. 
 
Provision of materials 
 
The WCED took a leading role in the development of material (textbooks) for all ABET Level 2 learners. Through 
this initiative, each Level 2 learner will have access to a textbook in all learning areas in 2011. 6 000 Level 2 
textbooks were ordered and distributed. The WCED translated these books into Afrikaans and isiXhosa and 
distributed them. Afrikaans books are in demand in the rural areas, in particular. Educators will be provided with a 
Facilitators’ Guide and Assessment Guidelines in 2011. 
 
Qualification 
 

The Report 550 for Grade 12s or the previous “Senior Certificate” was to have been offered for the last time in 
2011, but a revised date of 2014 has been proposed. At national level a draft White Paper is being compiled, as 
well as a new qualification to replace the Senior Certificate. This will facilitate the implementation of a qualification 
geared towards the needs of adults. The qualification will require the study of fewer learning areas and will focus 
on post-school youth, especially those not in education, employment and training. 
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Programme 7: Early Childhood Development 
 
Purpose:  
 
To provide ECD at the Grade R and earlier levels in accordance with White Paper 5 
 
The ECD programme comprises the following sub-programmes: 
 
Grade R in public schools 
○ to provide specific public ordinary schools with resources required for Grade R 
Grade R in community centres 
○ to support particular community centres at the Grade R level 
Professional services 
○ to support ECD sites 
Human resource development 
○ to provide for the professional development of educators and non-educators at ECD sites  
 
Strategic Objective 
 

Strategic 
Objective 7.1 

To provide specific public ordinary schools and identified independent schools with resources required 
for Grade R and provide conditions that encourage more schools to establish Grade R classes in 
existing available classrooms or new Grade R classrooms and to co-ordinate the level 1, 4 and 5 
training of ECD practitioners to ably provide emotional, cognitive, health and physical care and a 
stimulating learning environment for 0 to 4-year-olds 

 
Programme policy developments in 2010/11 
 
National Norms and Standards for Grade R funding:  
 
The “National Norms and Standards for Grade R funding” (January 2008) emphasises the need for capacity 
building and delineates a clear service delivery framework within which schools must operate. The state must 
promote quality in the provision of services, firstly, by promoting adequate levels of funding and, secondly, by 
monitoring the quality of the service directly. The WCED initiated the registration of community sites as 
independent schools, in terms of this framework. 
 
The draft Western Cape ECD Procedural Document is currently in the consultation process with all ECD 
stakeholders.  
 
Strategic Objectives and indicators 
 

Programme Performance Measures (national measures) 
PPM701: Number of 5 year old children attending education institutions 
PPM702: Number of learners enrolled in Grade R in public schools 
PPM703: Number of public schools that offer Grade R 
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Programme Performance Measures, Strategic objectives and Indicators: Discussion of Variances 
►PPM701: Number of 5 year old children attending education institutions 
Target: 57 000 
Actual: 66 388 (or 67% of the total number) 
Discussion: The data provided via the General Household Survey of StatsSA indicates that there are 29 123 five year olds 
who do not attend some kind of education institution (classified to include day care, crèche, pre-primary, ECD centre, 
nursery school. Of those that are attending institutions, StatsSA indicates that 34 479 attend “pre-school” and 30 658 attend 
either Grade 0 or Grade R.  
►PPM702: Number of learners enrolled in Grade R in public schools 
Target: 46 932 
Actual: 50 726 
Discussion: The Grade R learner numbers have increased substantially as a result of the advocacy strategies that 
encourage parents to enrol their four and half to six year old children in Grade R classes. The reduction in enrolment at 
independent sites suggests that parents have opted to enrol their children in Grade R classes at Public Schools rather than 
at ECD Independent Schools (previously referred to as ‘community sites’). It must be noted, in addition, that data 
management and supervision in this regard has improved greatly and that historical  figures are likely to have been inflated 
►PPM703: Number of public schools that offer Grade R 
Target: 817 
Actual: 807 
Discussion: The number of public schools offering Grade R is below the target due to the fact that the scheduled Grade R 
classrooms were not completed before the end of the fiscal year. See discussion below.  
PPI 7.1. Newly built classrooms 
Target: 50 
Actual: 0 
Discussion: The tenders were awarded in October and this meant that the classrooms will be completed in 2011. The 50 
classrooms are all under construction and are at various stages of completion. Schools were informed timeously to make 
alternative arrangements until the classrooms have been completed and handed over by the Department of Transport and 
Public Works.  
PPI 7.2 Additional ECD kits to Public Ordinary Schools 
Target: 100 
Actual: 0 
Discussion: Due to non-compliance to tender specifications, the tender was only awarded towards the end of the financial 
year. The delivery of all ECD Kits will take place to the selected schools within the second term of 2011. These schools 
received subsidies in October for the fourth term of 2010 and first term of 2011. Schools are required to utilize 20% of the 
subsidy allocation for the purchase of learning and teaching support material (LTSM). It should be noted that the ECD Kits 
supplied are in addition to the LTSM that are purchased by the schools 
PPI 7.3 Additional ECD kits in ECD Independent Schools 
Target: 50 
Actual: 0 
Discussion: See discussion above 
 
Discussion 
 
Enrolment 
 
The records reflect the registration of 50 726 Grade R learners and 1 213 in Pre Grade R at public ordinary and 
independent schools. There are 13 228 Grade R and 1 Pre Grade R learners in ECD Independent sites now 
registered on CEMIS. Prior to 2010, the Grade R learners who were at ECD Independent Schools were not 
registered on CEMIS and the enrolment data, which consisted of reported figures, could not be fully verified. 
Trained ECD assistants at each district office are currently logging all Grade R learners formally onto CEMIS. 
This technology ensures that each learner has a unique tracking number and provides more accurate data than in 
the past.  
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Facilities  
 
The layout and construction of the Grade R classrooms improved in 2009. This is beneficial to the Grade R 
learners as the new design enhances the quality of teaching and learning.  30 model Grade R classes were 
established to share best practices in ECD with neighbouring schools. The 30 sites purchased fiction and non-
fiction story books, text-rich posters and picture dictionaries. All schools with new Grade R classrooms also 
received funding for furniture and a basic start-up ECD resource pack. 80 sites were monitored in respect of the 
utilization of Grade R furniture allocation. 
 
All the tenders for the building of Grade R classrooms were awarded from October 2010 and the building of 
Grade R classrooms is in progress. The provisioning of Grade R classrooms to schools that do not have the 
necessary accommodation or which have unsuitable accommodation will continue. This will be in areas of 
greatest need based on poverty indices, demographic pressure (for example where there are large numbers of 
Grade 1 learners), availability of land and financial management.  
 
Subsidies 
 
The Grade R learner subsidy allocation to public and independent schools was increased in 2010 to align it to the 
requirements of the National Norms and Standards for Grade R funding.  Funding has been increased as follows: 
National Quintile (NQ 1) funding increased from R12 to R17 per day to a total of R3, 400 per learner per annum. 
NQ2 subsidies increased from R12 to R16 per day i.e. to R3,200 per annum; NQ 3 subsides increased from R9 
to R13 per day i.e. to R2 600 per annum; NQ4 subsidies increased from R6 to R9 per day i.e. up to R1 800 per 
annum and NQ5 remained at R5 per day or R1 000 per annum. Subsidy claims were verified and processed for 
the second payment, which is the Grade R learner allocation for the third term of 2010 and first term of 2011.  
The transfer payments commenced in October 2010. 
 
All SMTs and SGBs need ongoing training in the effective and efficient utilization of their subsidy allocation.  
A financial management manual is being drafted to give the SMTs and SGBs support and guidance regarding 
financial matters.  

 
Bursaries 
 
The WCED screened and nominated candidates for SETA bursaries. Bursaries were awarded to 21 Grade R 
practitioners who are studying for the Bachelor of Education (Foundation Phase) at UNISA. 156 Grade R 
practitioners were selected to upgrade their ECD qualifications from Level 4 to Level 5. They have completed the 
first nine months of the 18-month course. In August 2010, 700 ECD practitioners were awarded learnerships to 
complete their ECD Level 4 qualification. A total of 4 275 ECD practitioners are currently in the learnership 
programmes. In January 2011, an additional 1 200 ECD practitioners and 180 ECD practitioners started their 
ECD Level 4 and Level 1 learnership training.  The course material for the ECD practitioner assistants’ Level 1 
skills programme has been developed. 

 
The training of ECD practitioners as part of the Expanded Public Works Programme (EPWP) is being 
implemented across the province. Practitioners from rural areas are also catered for in these learnerships. 3 653 
practitioners who were already enrolled on the full course for practitioners were joined by a new intake of 2 320 in 
January 2010, bringing the total number of students in training to 5 973 in this cycle.  
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In line with the prescripts in the Ministerial determination for EPWP, a minimum stipend of R1 200 should be paid 
to all ECD practitioners. All ECD practitioners currently on learnership programmes benefited from the increased 
stipend. This increase had a positive influence on the trainee practitioners’ attendance at training classes.   

 
General 
 
The WCED met with the Department of Social Development to refine the ECD Provincial Integrated Plan and 
discuss the implementation of the new Children’s Act. All community sites are required to register as ECD 
independent schools. 80% of these sites have registered to date. 
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Programme 8: Auxiliary and Associated Services 
 
Purpose: To provide the education institutions as a whole with support 

The Auxiliary and Associated Services programme comprises the following sub-programmes: 
 
Payments to SETA 
○ to provide employee human resource development in accordance with the Skills Development Act 
Conditional grant projects 
○ to provide for projects specified by the Department of Basic Education that are applicable to more than one 

programme and funded from conditional grants 
External examinations 
○ to provide for departmentally managed examination services 
Teacher training 
○ to assist with the supply of qualified and competent educators for the teaching profession 
iKapa Elihlumayo 
○ to develop systems and programmes to improve the throughput rate and employment opportunities of 

learners 
 
Strategic Objectives and indicators 
 

Programme Performance Measures (national measures) 

► PPM801: Number of candidates for the Grade 12 senior certificate examinations (matric exams) 

► PPM802: Number of candidates for the ABET NQF Level 4 examinations 
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Programme Performance Measures, Strategic objectives and Indicators : Discussion of Variances 
► PPM801: Number of candidates for the Grade 12 senior certificate examinations (matric exams) 
Target: 45 000 
Actual: 47 783 
Discussion: Target exceeded. There were 44 931 candidates in 2009. 
► PPM802: Number of candidates for the ABET NQF Level 4 examinations 
Target: 1 900 
Actual: 1 783 
Discussion: The challenging circumstances of the learners in this sector will always affect enrolment. In all, 7016 subject 
papers were written. If the June candidates are added as well then the enrolment figure is 2066. 
Programme Performance Indicators 
PPI 8.1. Number of bursaries awarded to deserving students, for four years of formal study at HEIs 
Target: 200 
Actual: 137 
Discussion: The reduced total number of bursars is because of the increases in tuition fees at the tertiary institutions.  
PPI 8.2. HIV prevalence levels amongst youths 15-19 yrs 
Target: 4.1% 
Actual: 4 % 
Discussion: This has remained constant. 
PPI 8.3. Additional educators trained to teach about HIV 
Target: 1 000  
Actual: 495 
Discussion: 49.5% of the target was reached due to the lack of HIV staff in the districts, which impacted on educator 
training and development.  
PPI 8.4. Schools receiving  HIV/AIDS LTSM 
Target: 1 459 
Actual:1524 
Discussion:  All schools received LTSM. This figure includes the Special Schools. 
PPI 8.5. Schools trained in Care & Support 
Target: 200 
Actual: 616 persons 
Discussion: Teachers, schools and stakeholders received training in the Schools as Nodes of Care and Support 
(SNOC) programme, as well as in listening and referral skills.  
PPI 8.6. Schools trained in Management & Governance 
Target: 200 
Actual: 0 
Discussion: The target was not reached due to the lack of HIV staff in the districts, which impacted on training and 
development. 
PPI 8.7.High school peer educators 
Target: 10 000 
Actual: 7 500 
Discussion: The previous peer education model was phased out on the 31 December 2010. A new model has been 
implemented from 1 January 2011, in collaboration with the Department of Health, supported by the Centre for Support 
for Peer Education. 
PPI 8.8. Schools monitored and supported 
Target: 1 200 
Actual: 774 
Discussion: 64.5 % of target was reached. No monitoring was done in the last quarter of the financial year due to staff 
and operational constraints. There is a proposal for new staff to be appointed in each district. 
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Discussion 
 
Examinations 
 
The WCED administers five major examinations annually: the National Senior Certificate Examination in October/ 
November; the National Senior Certificate Supplementary Examination in February/March; the Senior Certificate 
Examination (old syllabus) in May/June and the ABET L4 Examinations in May/June and October.  
 
The examination question papers are set by the Department of Basic Education. The WCED ensures strict 
security measures and control systems during the printing, packing and distribution processes. School principals 
and chief invigilators are trained to manage and administer the examinations in terms of the Regulations on the 
Conduct, Administration and Management of Assessment for the National Senior Certificate. 
 
The examinations section printed 28 640 million papers in total in the financial year 2010/11. The examinations 
were ABET Level 4 examinations in May and October (47 centres); mid-year examinations for the Senior 
Certificate (251 Centres); end of year examinations in 417 centres and the February examinations in 156 centres. 
 
The process required 2 194 Chief and Assistant Invigilators for the end of year examinations (including ABET); 
385 for the supplementary examinations and 759 for the April/May examinations. There were 3 735 markers and 
66 internal moderators for the November/December examinations; 184 for the February/March examinations and 
627 for the April/May examinations.  




